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Objective

The objective of Mithras Investment Trust plc (the “Company” or “Mithras”) is to achieve over

the longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested.

Investment Policy

The Company’s investment policy is to provide equity finance for buyouts. Investments are

diversified by region, sector and deal size. The Company achieves this through its commitments

to limited partnership funds managed by LGV Capital Limited (“LGV”) and non-LGV private

equity fund managers.

The LGV funds invest in UK mid-market buyouts valued at over £50 million in the leisure,

healthcare, consumer and services sectors. 

Funds managed by non-LGV private equity fund managers focus on buyouts but without the

restrictions in terms of geographic focus or deal size range.

The Company invests in certain private equity listed vehicles (established in the UK or overseas)

to further broaden its exposure to the private equity sector and this strategy is consistent with

the wider aim of maximising performance with a given level of risk appetite.

The Company invests no more than 15% of its gross assets in individual company investments,

other than UK listed investment companies which themselves have published investment

policies to invest no more than 15% of their total assets in other listed investment companies.

The Company may use gearing to meet its investment objective. The Company will ensure that

the ratio of total consolidated assets, after deducting current liabilities, to total net debt is at

least 3:1.

Dividends

The revenue generated by private equity investments gives the Company the scope to pay above

average dividends compared with the FTSE All-Share Index.

Capital Gains

As Mithras is an investment trust, capital appreciation within the Company

is free of tax.

Registered in England & Wales

No. 2478424
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

TOTAL RETURN ON EQUITY*

FTSE
Mithras All-Share Index

Year ended 31 December 2007 23.7% 5.3%

From flotation on 21 February 1994 to 31 December 2007 243.0% 205.2%

*Group total return after tax before dividends, attributable to equity holders on opening equity holders’ funds.
The Group consists of the Company and its subsidiaries.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Year ended Year ended % change compared
31 December 2007 31 December 2006 to previous year

Revenue return before tax £2.19 million £1.23 million 78.0%

Total expense ratio 3.2%† 3.8% (15.8)%

Net dividends per ordinary share

2007 proposed final, payable in 2008***/
2006 proposed, paid in 2007* 2.00 pence 2.00 pence 0.0%

2007 proposed special, payable in 2008***/
2006 proposed, paid in 2007** 2.00 pence 1.00 pence 100.0%

Net asset value per ordinary share 132.1 pence 109.3 pence 20.9%

Mid market quoted share price 93.5 pence 93.5 pence 0.0%

†Excluding write back of prior years’ VAT.

*The final dividend of 2.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2007 Annual General Meeting
(“AGM”), in respect of the year ended 31 December 2006, was paid in May 2007. The final dividend of
2.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2006 AGM, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2005,
was paid in May 2006.

**The special dividend of 1.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2007 AGM, in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2006, was in lieu of a 2007 interim dividend and was paid in October 2007. The
special dividend of 1.00 pence per ordinary share declared at the 2006 AGM, in respect of the year ended 
31 December 2005, was in lieu of a 2006 interim dividend and was paid in October 2006.

***A final dividend of 2.00 pence and a special dividend of 2.00 pence per ordinary share are being
proposed in respect of the year ended 31 December 2007 and, if declared by shareholders at the 2008
AGM, will be payable in May 2008 and October 2008 respectively. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Results

During the year to 31 December 2007 the Company’s net

asset value (“NAV”) increased from 109.3 pence per share

to 132.1 pence per share, an increase of 20.9%. The share

price was 93.5 pence at both the beginning and end of the

year. The total return on equity was 23.7% (2006:

27.6%) compared to the Group’s benchmark, the FTSE

All-Share Index, which returned 5.3% (2006: 16.8%).

The return since the Company’s flotation in 1994 is

243.0% against the benchmark return of 205.2%.

As previously announced to shareholders, the Company

established a fund of funds business, Mithras Capital

Partners LLP (“MCP”), during the year. This has

contributed to a consolidated revenue return to equity

holders for the year of £1.7 million, an increase of 88.9%.

Given the level of cash and revenue reserves, your Board

is recommending to shareholders that dividends totalling

4.0 pence per share (2006: 3.0 pence) be paid, 2.0 pence

per share will be paid as a final dividend and 2.0 pence per

share will be paid as a special dividend in lieu of an

interim dividend in 2008.

The proposed final dividend, if approved by shareholders,

will be paid on 28 May 2008 to shareholders on the

register at the close of business on 11 April 2008. The

proposed special dividend will be paid on 31 October

2008 to shareholders on the register at the close of

business on 26 September 2008.

Portfolio and Strategy

The Company has made good progress in implementing

its broadened investment strategy during the year. 

The Company continues to invest in UK mid-market

buyouts through limited partnership investments

managed by LGV Capital Limited (“LGV”). The LGV

managed portfolio generated value for the Company’s

shareholders of £7.3 million during the year from the

realisation, refinancing and revaluation of unquoted

investments.

The Company made a commitment of £60 million to

MCP’s fund, Mithras Capital Fund Limited Partnership

(“MCF”), during the year. This fund also has a focus on

buyouts but without the restrictions in terms of

geographic focus or deal size range. MCF has drawn

down £14.7 million from the Company to meet the

investment requirements of underlying funds during the

year under review. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

The Company redeemed its remaining mezzanine

investment during the year for £6.2 million, and paid

back all amounts borrowed under the revolving credit

facility (2006: borrowings £5.6 million). At the year end

the Company held £8.9 million in quoted private equity

companies and £10.0 million in quoted AAA rated

corporate bonds. 

The strategy has been to grow the Company organically.

The Board acknowledges that the current share price

discount to NAV is at an unacceptable level.  The Board

wishes to offer an opportunity at the Annual General

Meeting (“AGM”) for shareholders to instruct the Board

to put forward proposals for the orderly winding up of

the Company or alternative routes to crystallise value for

shareholders. The Board intends to recommend that

shareholders vote in favour of such a resolution. If the

Board is so instructed at the AGM, a Circular will be sent

to shareholders in respect of a further General Meeting at

which such proposals may be considered. 

Reclaim of VAT from HM Revenue & Customs

(“HMRC”)

Management fees charged by LGV to the Company have

historically been treated as subject to VAT. This was in

line with HMRC requirements at the time. The

Association of Investment Companies (“AIC”), in

conjunction with a member company, took a case to the

VAT Tribunal which progressed on appeal to the

European Court of Justice (“ECJ”). 

In June 2007 the ECJ delivered its judgement and

supported the view that management fees charged to

investment trusts should be exempt from VAT. HMRC

confirmed in early November 2007 that  VAT should not

be charged on management fees for investment trusts.

The Board is taking steps, through LGV, to recover some

of the VAT paid in the past from HMRC. LGV has

committed to pay to the Company all amounts recovered

from HMRC.  A write back of VAT from prior years

amounting to £0.7 million has been recognised in 2007. 

Board

I am delighted to welcome David Shearer and Fabian

French to the Board. David Shearer brings with him

considerable experience in the field of corporate finance,

private equity and listed company directorships. Fabian

French has worked successfully for many years in

investment banking.  I believe that both will contribute

greatly to the strength of the Company’s Board in the

future. 

After serving as the Company’s Chairman for seven years,

and as a Director for fourteen years, I will be standing

down as Chairman at the conclusion of the forthcoming

Annual General Meeting. I am delighted to  be succeeded

by Mike Wooderson. He has served as a Director of the

Company and as Chairman of the Audit Committee

since 2001.

Outlook

The Company has had another exceptional year in terms

of realisations and valuation uplifts from the LGV

partnerships, which has resulted in the NAV reaching

132.1 pence per share, up from 109.3 pence at the

beginning of the year. The commitments made in 2007

through MCF to non-LGV private equity managers

should allow the Company to continue to grow strongly

in the future with an appropriate level of diversification

within the buyout market subject to the shareholder vote

at the AGM.

Hamish Leslie Melville

27 March 2008
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW

UNQUOTED INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

Cost
Company/Fund Activity £m

Equity Indirect

Total Fitness (via LGV 3) Health and fitness club operator 0.2
Classic Hospitals (via LGV 4) Hospital operator 0.2
Mithras Capital Fund, LP Fund of funds 14.7

15.1
Other 0.1

Total unquoted equity investments 15.2

Generally speaking, in 2007 the private equity market

has favoured sellers rather than buyers with prices

remaining high. LGV pursued a disciplined approach,

and made no new investments in the LGV limited

partnerships, instead concentrating on enhancing the

value of portfolio companies and realising value where

appropriate.

2007 has again seen a strong performance by Mithras

both in terms of cash generation from realisations and

valuation uplifts from the investment portfolio. In

addition, Mithras concluded the implementation of

the revised investment strategy during the year,

committing £60 million to Mithras Capital Fund, a

fund of funds. This commitment will be deployed over

the next two to three years. Mithras is thus well

positioned for future growth and diversification of its

unquoted portfolio.

Results for the Year

The Group’s total return for the year was 23.7%

(2006: 27.6%) in comparison to the Group’s

benchmark, the FTSE All-Share Index’s return of 5.3%

(2006: 16.8%). The Group’s NAV has increased from

109.3 pence per share to 132.1 pence per share during

the year.

The Board has recommended dividends totalling 4.0

pence per share (2006: 3.0 pence) due to the level of

cash and revenue reserves held within the Group.

Investment Activity

Mithras made four new commitments to private equity

limited partnerships via Mithras Capital Fund totalling

£41.8 million. The Company’s current share of the

four new commitments was €15 million to Riverside

Europe Fund III, $20 million to OCM Principal

Opportunities Fund IV, €15 million to Doughty

Hanson & Co V, and €15 million to PAI Europe V.

These commitments give good vintage year

diversification, ranging from 2005 to 2007.

Riverside Europe Fund III is a fund investing in buy

and build situations at the lower end of the buyout

market across Europe. OCM Principal Opportunities

Fund IV invests in US and European distress for

control situations. Doughty Hanson & Co V is a mid-

market Pan-European buyout fund. PAI Europe V is a

Pan-European buyout fund which generally invests

towards the upper end of the European buyout market.



INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW CONTINUED

REALISATIONS, RECAPITALISATIONS AND REDEMPTIONS

Proceeds
Company Activity £m

Realisations – Equity
Kingfield Heath – via LGV 4 Business supplies wholesaler 3.8
South Lakeland Parks – via LGV 5 Caravan and lodge park operator 2.4

6.2

Recapitalisations - Equity
Verna - via LGV 4 Pulp products manufacturer 0.8

Redemptions - Mezzanine
LM Group Wind turbine blade manufacturer 6.2

Total Realisations, Recapitalisations and Redemptions 13.2

6

During the year Mithras Capital Fund has drawn

down £14.7 million from Mithras to meet drawdowns

due and expected from these fund commitments.

In addition to the above, Mithras invested a further

£0.2 million into Total Fitness which is held via LGV

3 and £0.2 million into Classic Hospitals which is held

via LGV 4. £0.1 million was paid into LGV 5 to meet

partnership expenses.

LGV 2, LGV 3 and LGV 4 are fully invested, subject

to drawdowns for follow-on investments, with

Mithras’s outstanding commitments to these funds at

31 December 2007 being £0.3 million, £1.2 million

and £1.1 million respectively. The investment period

of LGV 5 remained open at 31 December 2007, and

Mithras had an outstanding commitment of £7.5

million to this partnership on that date. 

Mithras had surplus funds above the drawndown

commitments to private equity partnerships and direct

investments in unquoted companies. These surplus

funds are invested in quoted private equity companies,

corporate bonds and cash in line with the broadened

investment strategy. During the year, £2.5 million was

invested in Candover Investments plc, £1.5 million in

Eurazeo, £1.5 million in Graphite Enterprise Trust,

and £1.3 million in SVG Capital plc. 

Realisations, Recapitalisations and Redemptions

As a result of favourable market conditions, a number

of investments were realised during 2007. Mithras

received cash proceeds totalling £7.0 million,

including rolled up income of £0.6 million; £6.2

million from the realisation of two unquoted equity

investments and £0.8 million from the refinancing of

Verna. In addition to the proceeds above, Mithras

received £6.1 million in January 2007 following the

sale of Tragus in December 2006.

Kingfield Heath

Mithras invested £1.6 million in Kingfield Heath, a

business supplies wholesaler, during 2004 via LGV 4. In

June 2007 Kingfield Heath was sold to Electra Partners

with Mithras receiving proceeds of £3.8 million, giving a

return of 2.4 times the cost of investment (net of fees and

carried interest) and a £1.8 million uplift from the 31

December 2006 valuation. 



INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW CONTINUED
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South Lakeland Parks

During 2006 Mithras invested a total of £1.1 million via

LGV 4 in South Lakeland Parks, the leading owner and

operator of holiday parks in the Lake District and

Morecambe Bay regions of the North West of England.

Mithras received £2.4 million on the sale of the company

to White Ocean Leisure in November 2007, including

rolled up income of £0.2 million, giving a return of 2.2

times cost of investment and a £1.3 million uplift from

the December 2006 valuation.

Recapitalisation - Verna

In July 2007 the refinancing of Verna was completed.

Mithras’s share of the proceeds was £0.8 million, net of

the performance fee payable under the partnership’s

carried interest scheme.

Other disposals

In addition to the above realisations and recapitalisation,

Mithras’s holding in gilts was sold during the year,

realising £6.4 million, while there was a partial disposal

of holdings in quoted corporate bonds, which realised

£1.7 million in total. The mezzanine investment in LM

Group was redeemed for £6.2 million during the year.

This was the last remaining mezzanine investment held

by Mithras.

Revaluations/Provisions

During the year Mithras recorded unrealised valuation

uplifts of £4.4 million predominantly in relation to

IDH, Classic Hospitals, Verna Group, and LGC.

In addition to this, provisions amounting to £2.2 million

were released, principally from Craegmoor, Jeyes, and

Total Fitness. Market conditions led to a £0.2 million

increase in the value of the UK gilt and quoted corporate

bond portfolio. The quoted private equity portfolio

decreased in value by £0.3 million.

Borrowings

It was Mithras’s policy to offset substantially non-sterling

mezzanine loans by borrowing in the relevant currency to

reduce the impact of foreign exchange movements.

Following the sale of LM Group, the Group’s only

remaining non-sterling mezzanine investment, the

Group has repaid its borrowings of £5.6 million. 

The Group’s net cash position, including UK gilts and

quoted corporate bonds at fair value, decreased during

the year from £15.1 million to £12.4 million as a result

of investment activity.

Investment Trust Status

HMRC approved Mithras as an investment trust in

2006. In the opinion of the Board, the Company has

conducted its affairs as an investment trust so that it

would continue to qualify. Maintenance of this status in

the future will continue to allow the Company’s capital

gains to be reinvested free of tax.

Outlook

For the last two years Mithras has taken advantage of

market conditions to achieve significant valuation uplifts

and realisation profits from the LGV managed

partnerships. The “credit crunch” took longer to impact

the mid-market buyout area in which LGV operates.

However, since the start of 2008, there have been clear

signs that debt is less available and this combined with

market uncertainties suggest that more attractive buying

opportunities will emerge in 2008. Via both the LGV

partnerships and the diversification of the Mithras

Capital Fund, Mithras is well positioned at this stage of

the cycle.

A R B Johnson

Chief Executive

LGV Capital Limited

4 April 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

AT 31 DECEMBER 2007

Fair
Value % of

Investments Activity/Security Type £’000 Portfolio

Unquoted investments
Riverside Europe Fund III (via MCF) Limited partnership fund 5,049 11
OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV (via MCF) Limited partnership fund 4,199 9
IDH (via LGV 5) Dental practice operator 3,942 9
Craegmoor Healthcare Residential care homes operator 3,377 8
Classic Hospitals (via LGV 4) Hospital operator 3,172 7
Doughty Hanson & Co V (via MCF) Limited partnership fund 1,866 4
LGC Group (via LGV 3) Analytical and diagnostic testing 1,841 4
Total Fitness (via LGV 3) Health and fitness club operator 858 2
Verna Group (via LGV 4) Pulp products manufacturer 675 1
Other unquoted investments 618 1

25,597 56

Quoted equity investments
SVG Capital Plc Private equity 2,219 5
Candover Investments Plc Private equity 2,200 5
Graphite Enterprise Trust Plc Private equity 1,767 4
Eurazeo Private equity 1,421 3
3i Group Plc Private equity 1,286 3

8,893 20
Quoted bond investments
General Electric Capital UK Funding

4.75% 15/06/11 Corporate bond 1,889 4
KFW International Finance 4.75% 17/12/10 Corporate bond 1,877 4
SNCF 5% 30/12/10 Corporate bond 1,809 4
BNG 4.375% 14/12/12 Corporate bond 1,558 4
Agence Francaise 4.875% 30/10/13 Corporate bond 1,496 3
EIB 4.5% 14/01/13 Corporate bond 794 2
Other quoted investments 539 1

9,962 22
Net current assets held in the funds

923 2

Total investment portfolio 45,375 100

LGV limited partnership funds
LGV 2 Private Equity Fund LP (LGV 2) 514 1
LGV 3 Private Equity Fund LP (LGV 3) 2,307 5
LGV 4 Private Equity Fund LP (LGV 4) 3,130 7
LGV 5 Private Equity Fund LP (LGV 5) 3,190 7

MCF limited partnership funds
Doughty Hanson & Co V 1,866 4
OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV 4,199 9
PAI Europe V 21 –
Riverside Europe Fund III 5,049 11
Net current assets held in the partnership 2,867 6

23,143 50

Geographical Spread of Investments
by Currency Exposure

United Kingdom 32,819 73
Continental Europe 8,357 18
United States of America 4,199 9

45,375 100
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CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO CONTINUED

AT 31 DECEMBER 2007

Industrials
4%

Health Care
24%

Financials
35%

Investment Portfolio as a % of Gross Assets at Fair Value

Unquoted
Equity
55%

Quoted
Bonds
20%

Current
Assets
7%

Consumer
Services
6%

Consumer
Goods
1%

Quoted
Equity
18%

Private Equity
Fund of Funds
30%

Investment Portfolio by FTSE Industry Sector*

*Excludes net current liabilities held in the LGV partnership funds
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TEN LARGEST INVESTMENTS

This table is prepared to show the largest investments, both direct and indirect via MCF and the LGV funds.
At the base of the table the total investments made via MCF and the LGV funds are also disclosed.

Percentage Fair value Cost
of portfolio at at

Security valuation 31 December 2007 31 December 2007
Name type % £’000 £’000

Riverside Europe Fund III Limited partnership fund 11 5,049 5,148

OCM Principal 
Opportunities Fund IV Limited partnership fund 9 4,199 4,183

IDH Equity 9 3,942 1,108

Craegmoor Healthcare Equity 8 3,377 4,287

Classic Hospitals Equity 7 3,172 1,995

SVG Capital Quoted equity 5 2,219 2,461

Candover Investments plc Quoted equity 5 2,200 2,468

General Electric Capital

UK Funding 4.75% 15/06/11 Quoted corporate bond 4 1,889 1,921

KFW International

Finance 4.75% 17/12/10 Quoted corporate bond 4 1,877 1,893

Doughty Hanson & Co V Limited partnership fund 4 1,866 2,004

66 29,790 27,468

MCF Limited partnership fund of funds 30 14,002 14,700
LGV 2 Limited partnership fund 1 514 1,117
LGV 3 Limited partnership fund 5 2,307 3,176
LGV 4 Limited partnership fund 7 3,130 2,225
LGV 5 Limited partnership fund 7 3,190 1,364
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TEN LARGEST INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Latest Profit/
Percentage year-end loss Share

Fair value of audited before capital
at Basis equity Dividends Earnings financial interest and

31 December 2006 of held per share per share statements and tax reserves
£’000 valuation % pence pence available £m £m

n/a Fair value n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

n/a Fair value n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1,108 Fair value 2.6 n/a (740.2) 30 April 2007 5.9 (6.2)

1,191 Fair value 3.2 n/a (242.5) 31 December 2006 7.0 (24.5)

1,963 Fair value 4.6 n/a (333.6) 31 December 2006 (3.4) (11.8)

1,134 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

n/a Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1,871 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1,842 Bid market n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

n/a Fair value n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

n/a Fair value n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
310 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2007 n/a n/a

1,899 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2007 n/a n/a
10,322 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2007 n/a n/a
2,229 Fair value n/a n/a n/a 30 September 2007 n/a n/a
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS

Riverside Europe Fund III

Valuation: £5.0m

(2006: n/a)

In May 2007, Mithras made a €15m commitment to

Riverside Europe Fund III ("REF III") via MCF. REF

III follows a pan-European buy-and-build strategy

focused on the lower-mid buyout market. The aim will

be to grow businesses acquired over a three to seven

year period by a combination of making acquisitions

and adopting measures to enhance earnings growth.

Riverside’s philosophy is to buy small companies and

grow them into larger ones with a view to exiting on

medium-large company multiples.

As at 31 December 2007, Mithras had invested £5.1m

in REF III via its commitment to MCF and has valued

this investment at fair value based upon MCF's

quarterly accounts at 31 December 2007. 

OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV

Valuation £4.2m

(2006: n/a)

In April 2007, Mithras made a US$20m commitment

to OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV ("OCM

POF IV") via MCF. OCM POF IV makes investments

in equity, equity-related and debt obligations of

companies that it believes are undervalued, possibly

due to some kind of distress, offer an opportunity for

growth and provide an attractive risk/return profile.

OCM POF IV will attempt to structure its

investments with a view to obtaining control of, or

significant influence over, such companies either

directly or through management.

As at 31 December 2007, Mithras had invested £4.2m

in OCM POF IV via its commitment to MCF and has

valued this investment at fair value based upon MCF's

quarterly accounts at 31 December 2007.

Logo is a trademark of Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Classic Hospitals

Valuation: £3.2m

(2006: £2.0m)

In July 2005, LGV formed Classic Hospitals as the

fifth largest operator of private hospitals in the UK.

This group of nine hospitals (a tenth was added in July

2006) was acquired with over 300 beds and

approximately 2,000 staff. LGV's strategy was to

maximise the opportunities arising out of the growth

in demand for private healthcare. It also considered

there were opportunities to grow through acquisition

as well as from entry into new markets, such as

cosmetic surgery. 

As at 31 December 2007, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon current trading at 31 December

2007 and initial offers received for the realisation of

this investment.

In March 2008, Mithras received £4.3 million

proceeds from the disposal of this investment.

Craegmoor

Valuation: £3.4m

(2006: £1.2m)

In July 2001, Craegmoor, a major player in the market

for the provision of residential care for people with

learning disabilities and the elderly, was acquired with

the aim of using the business to consolidate a

fragmented market. Trading issues and the integration

of a new accounting system resulted in senior

management changes. The resolution of these issues by

mid-2007 allowed the company to complete a

refinancing in September 2007. 

As at 31 December 2007, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon forecast results for the year

ended 31 December 2007.
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IDH

Valuation: £3.0m

(2006: £1.1m)

In April 2006, LGV acquired IDH, the operator of 120

dental practices situated throughout the UK. By the end

of December 2007, this number had grown to over 190,

including a newly acquired chain of 23 practices

specialising in orthodontic treatment - providing an

opportunity to extend the range of services offered by

IDH throughout its entire network. After initial

difficulties caused by the implementation of new

government contracts within the industry, the business is

now trading well. 

As at 31 December 2007, the investment is valued at

fair value based upon forecast results for the year

ended 30 April 2008 and initial offers received for the

realisation of this investment.

In February 2008, Mithras received £3.8 million

proceeds from the disposal of this investment.

Doughty Hanson & Co V

Valuation: £1.9m

(2006: n/a)

In April 2007, Mithras made a €15m commitment to

Doughty Hanson & Co V ("DH V") via MCF. DH V

will seek to make controlling equity investments in

mid-market enterprises whose headquarters are located

in Europe or whose operations are primarily based in

Europe. DH V will target opportunities where there is

potential for equity value enhancement through

improved revenue growth, market positioning,

operating efficiencies and targeted acquisitions.

As at 31 December 2007, Mithras had invested £2.0m

in DH V through its commitment to MCF and has

valued this investment based upon MCF's quarterly

accounts at 31 December 2007.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who were in office at the end of the year

are listed below.

Chairman

Hamish Leslie Melville

Aged 63, is a managing director and chairman of the

European Investment Banking Committee of Credit

Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited. He is chairman of

JP Morgan Fleming Mercantile Investment Trust Plc

and a director of Persimmon Plc. 

Appointed 1994.

Directors

William Maltby

Aged 48, is vice chairman of Investment Banking at

Deutsche Bank. He is a qualified accountant with an

extensive career history in corporate finance.

Appointed 2005.

David Shearer

Aged 49, a qualified Chartered Accountant, is

chairman of Crest Nicholson Group Limited, senior

independent director of SMG plc, Renold plc and

Superglass Holdings plc, a non-executive director of

Aberdeen New Dawn Investment Trust plc, Martin

Currie Limited and Scottish Financial Enterprise and

a governor of the Glasgow School of Art. Mr Shearer

was formerly a non-executive director of HBOS plc.

Appointed 2007.

Mike Wooderson (Chairman of the Audit

Committee)

Aged 54, is chief executive of the Europe and North

America trading division of HBOS Plc. He is a

director of a number of Bank of Scotland subsidiary

companies. He joined the Bank of Scotland in 1997

from The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc. 

Appointed 2001.

All Directors are members of the Nomination, Audit

and Management Engagement Committees and are

non-executive.

All Directors are independent of the Investment

Manager in accordance with the provisions of the

Combined Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual

Report and Audited Financial Statements for the Group for

the year ended 31 December 2007. The Group comprises

Mithras and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Mithras

Investments Limited (“MIL”) and Mithras Capital

Holdings Limited (“MCH”). At 31 December 2007, the

Company also owned 90% of Mithras Capital Partners

LLP (“MCP”) and its wholly owned subsidiary Mithras

Capital Partners GP Limited (“MCGP”).

Business Review

This Business Review has been prepared in accordance with

the requirements of Section 417 of the Companies Act

2006 and current best practices. The objective of the

Directors has been to provide a balanced and

comprehensive review that is consistent with the size and

complexity of the business. As an externally managed

investment trust company, the Company has no employees

and delegates most of its functions to third party service

providers. Accordingly, your Board has focused this review

on the Company’s financial performance for the year ended

31 December 2007. 

The Business Review is addressed only to shareholders as a

body, and no liability can be admitted by the Directors to

any other parties in connection therewith. The purpose of

the Business Review is limited to its statutory purpose,

namely to assist shareholders in assessing the Company’s

strategies and the potential for those strategies to succeed.

Any forward-looking statements contained in the Business

Review reflect the knowledge and information available to

the Directors at the date the Business Review was prepared.

The Business Review will not be updated during the next

financial year, but any forward-looking statements

contained in the Business Review will be considered in the

preparation of the next Business Review.

Operating environment

The Company’s principal activity is investing in private

equity in accordance with the investment policy set out on

page 1. A description of the Group’s activities during the

year is given in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 4

and in the Investment Manager’s Review on pages 5 to 7.

The Company’s is an investment company as defined by

Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985. 

Since flotation in February 1994, the Directors have sought

to conduct the affairs of the Company so that it satisfies the

conditions for approval as an investment trust set out in

Section 842 of the Income & Corporation Taxes Act 1988

(“ICTA”), and confirmation has been received from the

HMRC that the Company has complied with these

requirements for all accounting periods up to and including

31 December 2006. This approval is subject to there being

no subsequent enquiry under Corporation Tax Self

Assessment. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company

has subsequently conducted its affairs so that it should

continue to qualify. The Company is not a close company

within the terms of the ICTA. 

The current portfolio of the Company is such that its shares

are eligible for inclusion in an Individual Savings Account,

and the Directors expect this eligibility to be maintained.

Performance

A number of performance measures are considered by the

Board and the Investment Manager in assessing the

Company’s success in achieving its objectives. The key

performance indicators (“KPIs”) used to measure the

progress and performance of the Company over time are

established industry measures and are as follows:

• Movement in net asset value

• Movement in share price

• Total return on equity

• Dividends per share

• Total expense ratio

Details of the Company’s performance against these KPIs

can be found in the Performance Summary on page 2. 

In addition to the aforementioned KPIs, the Board

monitors the activity in the Company’s shares and any

discount to the NAV at which they trade. The Investment

Manager considers the governance practices of investee

companies in their broadest sense, which includes social,

environmental and ethical factors where these may affect

the Company’s financial performance. The Investment



17

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

Manager engages in dialogue with investee companies

through its voting and shareholder process, to encourage

adoption of better practices. At all times, the driving

investment principle remains the maximisation of

performance for a given level of risk.

Financial position

The results for the year are set out in the Consolidated

Income Statement on page 33. The Directors are

recommending the payment of a final dividend of 2.0p per

ordinary 2p share and a special dividend of 2.0p per ordinary

2p share. The final dividend will be paid on 28 May 2008 to

shareholders on the register of members at the close of

business on 11 April 2008. The special dividend will be paid

on 31 October 2008 to shareholders of the register at the

close of business on 26 September 2008.

The NAV per ordinary share at 31 December 2007 was

132.1p (2006: 109.3p).

Current and future developments 

Details of the Company’s key developments during the year

to 31 December 2007 are set out in the Chairman’s

Statement and Investment Manager’s Review on pages 3 to

4 and 5 to 7 respectively.

Schedule 7 Part I of the Companies Act 1985 requires that

the Directors provide an indication of the “likely future

developments in the business of the company”. Details of

the Company’s outlook are contained within the

Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 4 as well as the

Investment Manager’s Review on pages 5 to 7. These are in

no way intended to be a detailed forecast.

Principal risks and uncertainties 

The Company has established a risk management

framework within the context of the Company’s overall

objective to achieve over the longer term a total return in

excess of the FTSE All-Share Index. The Board and the

Audit Committee are responsible for the risk management

framework, which enables the Company to assess the

overall risk exposure of the Company and to successfully

manage such risk.

General risks associated with investment in private equity

Investment in private equity involves a high degree of risk. 

The Group invests in private equity through its exposure to

buyout and development capital funds. Such investments

are illiquid and might be difficult to realise, particularly

within a short timeframe. The Directors seek to maintain a

diversified portfolio of investments to mitigate these risks.

Financial risk

Within the context of the Company’s overall objective, the

Board has identified the principal financial risks, which are

set out in note 26 to the Financial Statements on pages 65

to 71.

Operational risks

As the Company’s main functions are delegated to third

party service providers, operational risk arises from

inadequate processes of internal control. This would

include, for example, non-compliance with statutes and

regulations governing the functions of the Company.

Operational risks are assessed by the Board, which receives

timely reports from its main service providers as to the

internal control processes in place within those

organisations, which serve to minimise the risk exposure to

the Company. The Board and the Audit Committee

annually review the internal control reports of the

Company’s service providers, produced in accordance with

Financial Reporting and Auditing Guidance and 

AAF 01/06.

Investment and strategy risks

An inappropriate investment strategy, for example

inappropriate asset allocation, may lead to

underperformance against the Company’s benchmark

index and peer companies. The investment strategy of the

Company is periodically reviewed by the Board. The Board

considers at each meeting the performance of the

investment portfolio and has established investment

restrictions and guidelines within which the Investment

Manager operates.

Market risk

Market risk arises from volatility in the prices of the

Company’s investments. It represents the potential loss to

the Company through the holding of investments in the

face of negative market movements.



The Board has set investment restrictions and guidelines

that are monitored and reported against by the Investment

Manager. The Board as a whole periodically considers the

asset allocation.

Valuation risk

The Group’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly

movements in the value of its underlying investments. A

breakdown of the Group’s portfolio of private equity funds

is given on page 8 and a detailed analysis of the 10 largest

underlying investments is given on pages 10 to 11. All

underlying investments are valued at fair value by the

Directors in accordance with the current International

Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEVC”) Guidelines.

The IPEVC Guidelines contain detailed methodology

setting out best practice with respect to valuing unquoted

investments. Valuation risks are mitigated by a

comprehensive review of underlying investments in the

private equity funds which are carried out by the managers

of the private equity funds twice each year. These valuations

are then considered by the Audit Committee and the Board

with advice and assistance from the Investment Manager,

the managers of the private equity funds and other advisers

as appropriate. The Group’s Auditor also reviews the

valuations as part of their audit and agrees any changes with

the Audit Committee and the Board.

Accounting, legal and regulatory risk

In order to qualify as an investment trust, the Company

must comply with Section 842 of the ICTA. Details of the

Company’s approval are given under ‘Operating

environment’ above. Should the Company be in breach of

Section 842 of the ICTA, it may lose its investment trust

status and as a consequence gains within the Company’s

portfolio would be subject to Capital Gains Tax. The

Investment Manager monitors the Section 842  of the

ICTA qualification criteria and provides a report to the

Board at each meeting.

As an entity listed on the London Stock Exchange, the

Company must also comply with the Listing Rules of the

Financial Services Authority (“FSA”). Breach of the FSA

Listing Rules may result in the shares of the Company being

suspended from listing which in turn would be a breach of

Section 842 of the ICTA. The Board relies on its Company

Secretary and professional third party advisers to ensure

compliance with law and regulation.

Life of the Company

The Company has no limited life provisions in its Articles

of Association.

Share Capital

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company is

detailed in note 18 to the Financial Statements.

There are no restrictions concerning the transfer of

securities in the Company and there are no agreements

between holders of securities regarding their transfer known

to the Company.

Directors

The Directors of the Company, who held office at the end

of the year under review, and their biographical details are

set out on page 15. 

The Board has agreed a formalised arrangement for the

timely refreshment of its membership, in line with the
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFICIAL AND FAMILY INTERESTS

At 31 December 2007 At 31 December 2006
Ordinary shares Ordinary shares

Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

I H Leslie Melville 405,000 – 405,000 –
W J Maltby 20,000 – 20,000 –
D J B Shearer – – – –
M Wooderson 25,000 – 25,000 –

Subsequent to the year end, Mr Fabian French was appointed on 1 March 2008.
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principles of the Combined Code on Corporate

Governance (the “Combined Code”). In accordance with

this policy Mr Leslie Melville will retire at the forthcoming

AGM of the Company and will not be standing for re-

election. With this in mind, the Board decided to recruit a

Director to the Board and it was agreed that Mr Fabian

French be appointed on 1 March 2008. 

During the year under review, Mr Rough resigned from the

Board, following sixteen years of service, accordingly the

Board decided to appoint a new Director to the Board,

namely Mr David Shearer, with effect from 1 August 2007.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Messrs

French and Shearer are due to be elected  at the first AGM

following their appointments. Therefore, shareholders will

be given the opportunity to elect Messrs French and Shearer

at the 2008 AGM. The Board recommends that

shareholders vote in favour of both Mr French and Mr

Shearer’s election.

None of the Directors has a contract of service with the

Company.

There have been no changes to the above holdings between

31 December 2007 and the date of this Report.

None of the Directors, nor any persons connected with

them, had a material interest in any of the Group’s

transactions, arrangements or agreements during the year to

31 December 2007.

The Bank of Scotland is one of the principal bankers to the

Group. Mr Wooderson, as chief executive of the Europe

and North America trading division of HBOS Plc, has no

direct involvement in the provision of credit facilities to the

Group. The Bank operates effective "Chinese Walls" to

ensure that no such involvement can take place.

Management and Significant Agreements

The Group's investments are managed by LGV under

Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19

December 1995 (as amended) with the Company and its

subsidiary, MIL, respectively. Under the terms of the

Investment Management Agreements, management fees are

payable quarterly in arrears by the Group at rates varying 

between 0.5% per annum and 2% per annum of the values

of the Group's assets, dependent upon asset type.

The Investment Manager does not receive a fee on assets for

which it receives a fee under the partnership agreements nor

on investments in MCF. The Investment Management

Agreements with LGV may be terminated by either party at

not less than one year's notice, without penalty. During the

year ended 31 December 2007, LGV received fees

(inclusive of VAT where applicable) from the Group

amounting to £306,000 (2006: £282,000) (see note 5 to

the Financial Statements).

Company secretarial services have been delegated by BNP

Paribas Fund Services UK Limited to their wholly owned

subsidiary, BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited. BNP

Paribas Fund Services UK Limited receives a fee of £29,000

per annum excluding VAT for services provided to the

Company, plus an additional £12,000 per annum

excluding VAT for services provided to Mithras Capital

Partners LLP. The contract may be terminated by either

party giving not less than six months’ written notice at any

time.

There are no agreements that the Company is party to that

would be affected following a takeover bid, other than the

Credit Facility Agreement with Bank of Scotland plc which

if drawn upon would have to be repaid prior to a change of

control.

Continuing Appointment of the Investment Manager

Having reviewed the Investment Manager’s performance

throughout the financial year, the Board is satisfied with the

Investment Manager’s continued ability to produce

satisfactory results. Accordingly, the Board believes that the

continued appointment of the Investment Manager, on its

current terms, is in the interest of shareholders.

Creditor Payment Policy and Practice

It is the Company’s payment policy to obtain the best

possible terms for all business and therefore there is no

consistent policy as to terms used. The Company agrees

with its suppliers the terms on which business will take

place and it is the policy to abide by those terms. Payment

is made on these terms normally within 30 working days

provided the supplier meets its obligations.

At 31 December 2007 there were no trade creditors

outstanding (2006: nil).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 3 March 2008 the Company had received notification of the following interests exceeding 3% of the
ordinary share capital of the Company:

Beneficial Owner No. of Shares % of Share Capital

Legal & General Assurance Society Limited 12,583,845 34.68

Uberior Investments Plc 5,233,000 14.42

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 3,500,000 9.65

South Yorkshire Pensions UK Fund Authority 1,517,480 4.18

A R B Johnson 1,395,030 3.84

CG Asset Management Limited 1,243,534 3.43

Going Concern

The Directors have agreed that it is appropriate to continue

to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the

Financial Statements, as after due consideration, the

Directors are of the opinion that the Group has adequate

resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future. 

Annual General Meeting

The eighteenth AGM of the Company will be held on

Wednesday, 14 May 2008 at The City of London Club, 19

Old Broad Street, London, EC2N 1DS at 12.00 noon. The

business to be transacted at the meeting is detailed in the

Notice of Meeting contained in the accompanying Circular.

Authority to Allot Shares and Disapply Preemption

Rights

The current authority for Directors to allot authorised but

unissued ordinary shares without first offering them to

existing shareholders in accordance with statutory pre-

emption procedure will expire at the forthcoming AGM.

The Directors believe it to be in shareholders’ interests to

continue to have such an authority for the forthcoming year

and accordingly will seek to renew the authority to allot

shares and to disapply pre-emption rights at the

forthcoming AGM.

Independent Auditors

The Independent Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,

have expressed their willingness to continue in office as

Auditors. The Audit Committee has responsibility for

making a recommendation to the Board on the

reappointment of the external Auditors. After careful

consideration of the services provided to the Group during

the year and a review of the effectiveness of the external

Auditor, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board

that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP should be re-appointed

as Auditors to the Group. Accordingly, resolutions are to be

proposed at the forthcoming AGM for their

reappointment, and to authorise the Directors to agree their

remuneration for the ensuing year.

Information to Auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this

Directors' Report confirm that, so far as they are each

aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the

Company's Auditors are unaware and each Director has

taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors

to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information

and to establish that the Company's Auditors are aware of

that information.
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By order of the Board
BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited

Secretary

4 April 2008
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual

Report and Financial Statements and the Directors’

Remuneration Report and in accordance with

applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare

Financial Statements for each financial year. Under

that law the Directors have prepared the Group and

Parent Company Financial Statements in accordance

with International Financial Reporting Standards

(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”).

The Financial Statements are required by law to give a

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company

and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group

for that year.

In preparing these Financial Statements, the Directors

are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply

them consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable

and prudent;

• State that the Financial Statements comply with

IFRSs as adopted by the EU; and

• Prepare the Financial Statements on the going

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume

that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with

the above requirements in preparing the Financial

Statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper

accounting records that disclose with reasonable

accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure

that the Financial Statements and the Directors’

Remuneration Report comply with the Companies

Act 1985 and, as regards the Group Financial

Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are

also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the

Company and the Group and hence for taking

reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of

fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, who are listed on page 15 of this

Report, each confirm to the best of their knowledge

that:

• The Financial Statements, prepared in accordance

with applicable accounting standards, give a true

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial

position and profit or loss of the Company; and

• This Annual Report includes a fair review of the

development and performance of the business and

the position of the Company, together with a

description of the principal risks and uncertainties

that they face.

The Report and Financial Statements are 

published on the Company’s website,

www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com. The maintenance

and integrity of the website maintained by LGV or

any of its subsidiaries is, so far as it relates to the

Company, the responsibility of LGV. The work

carried out by the Auditors does not involve

consideration of the maintenance and integrity of

this website and, accordingly, the Auditors accept

no responsibility for any changes that have

occurred to the Report and Financial Statements

since they were initially presented on the website.

Visitors to the website need to be aware that

legislation in the United Kingdom governing the

preparation and dissemination of the Report and

Financial Statements may differ from legislation in

their jurisdiction.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Background

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies to

disclose how they have applied the principles and complied

with the provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate

Governance (“Combined Code”), as issued by the

Financial Reporting Council in June 2006. In addition, the

AIC Code of Corporate Governance (the "AIC Code") was

issued by the Association of Investment Companies and

provides specific corporate governance guidelines to

investment companies. The Financial Reporting Council

endorsed the AIC Code in February 2006 and has

confirmed  that AIC member companies who report

against the AIC Code and who follow the AIC’s Code will

be meeting obligations in relation to the Code and

associated disclosure requirements of the FSA Listing

Rules.

Corporate Governance Principles

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2007, the Board

conducted the affairs of the Company in accordance with

the provisions of the Combined Code, subject to the

exceptions explained in this statement below and its special

circumstances as an investment trust company, and the

principles of the AIC Code. The Board considers matters

of Corporate Governance to be of utmost importance and

strives to observe the requirements of these Codes. It

should be noted that as the Company is an investment

trust, all the Directors are non-executive and most of the

Company’s day-to-day responsibilities are delegated to

third party service providers.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for determining the strategic

direction of the Company. It meets at least four times per

year to review the performance of the Company's

investments, the financial position of the Company, its

performance in line with the agreed investment objective

and all other important issues to ensure control is

maintained over the Company’s affairs and that it operates

within a framework of prudent and effective controls. A

schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for its

decision has been adopted. 

As recommended by the AIC Code, the Board sets the

boundaries within which the Investment Manager

operates. The Board has delegated the following

responsibilities to the Investment Manager: development

of strategic plans and the taking of decisions as to the

investment of the portfolio assets of the Company.

Representatives of the Investment Manager attend each

Board meeting, enabling the Board to review the

Investment Manager's performance against the Company's

investment objective, portfolio risk and the attribution

analysis. In addition, their attendance affords the Board the

opportunity to seek clarification on specific issues. The

Board takes responsibility for the content of major

corporate communications and the Investment Manager

informs the Board of any relevant promotional material

that is issued.

The Board has formalised arrangements under which the

Directors, in furtherance of their duties, may take

independent professional advice at the Company's

expense. It is the Chairman's responsibility to ensure that

the Directors have sufficient knowledge to fulfil their role

and Directors are encouraged to participate in training

courses as appropriate. 

All Directors who served throughout the financial year

attended the four Board meetings as well as three

exceptional Board meetings, together with the

Management Engagement and Nomination Committee

meetings, and the three Audit Committee meetings

convened during the year under review. Mr Rough was

unable to attend one Board meeting, one Audit

Committee meeting and one Management Engagement

Committee meeting prior to his resignation.
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The Chairman

There is a clear division of responsibility between the

Chairman, the Directors, the Investment Manager and the

other third party service providers. No one individual has

unfettered powers of decision.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and

ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and for

ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and

clear information. The Chairman also ensures that there is

effective communication with shareholders. The Chairman

at the time of his appointment was, and remains,

independent of the Investment Manager.

Details of the Chairman's professional commitments are

included in his biography on page 15. Whilst the

Chairman has been appointed to other non-executive roles,

the Board is satisfied that these do not interfere with the

performance of his duties to the Company.

Senior Independent Director

During the year under review, it was agreed by the Board

that, given the small size of the Board, the opportunity for

open discussions and the breadth of investment,

commercial and professional knowledge of each Director

enabling them to address any concerns conveyed to them,

there was not a need to appoint a Senior Independent

Director at the current time. This matter is reviewed

annually.

Directors and Directors' Independence

At the year end the Board comprised the Chairman and

three Directors. As the Board is comprised solely of non-

executive Directors, there is no chief executive position

within the Company. The names of the Directors who

were in office at the end of the financial year, together with

their biographical details are set out on page 15 of this

Report.

Mr Rough resigned from the Board after sixteen years of

service, and in light of this the Board appointed Mr David

Shearer with effect from 1 August 2007.

The Board annually reviews the continued independence

of its Directors. Mr Leslie Melville was appointed to the

Board of the Company in 1994 and has, therefore, been

connected with the Company for fourteen years. In line

with the requirements of the Combined Code, the Board

has considered the independence of Mr Leslie Melville

with particular care. Mr Leslie Melville has significantly

contributed to the success of the Company through his

individual skills and considerable knowledge of both the

Company and the industry. He has provided continuity

and an overall balance to the Board and has demonstrated

a strong independence in the manner in which he has

discharged his responsibilities as a Director throughout the

financial year. The Board has, therefore, decided that, in

the absence of any other relevant factors, Mr Leslie Melville

is an independent Director. However, being mindful of the

requirement for the refreshing of the skills and experiences

of the Directors, Mr Leslie Melville has agreed the latest

date by which he will retire from the Board. Accordingly,

Mr Leslie Melville is to retire from the Board at the 2008

AGM, and will not be standing for re-election.

In view of this, the Board agreed to appoint an additional

Director to the Board of the Company, namely Mr Fabian

French, with effect from 1 March 2008. 

Following the resignation of Mr Leslie Melville, Mr

Wooderson will be appointed the Chairman of the

Company and Mr Shearer who has recent and relevant

financial experience will be appointed the Chairman of the

Audit Committee.

The Board considers that all Directors are independent in

character and judgement. For the purposes of the

Combined Code and the AIC Code, no non-executive

Director:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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• has been an employee of the Investment Manager

within the last five years;

• has, or has had within the last three years, a material

business relationship with the Company;

• receives remuneration other than a Director's fee;

• has close family ties with any of the Company's

advisers;

• holds cross directorships or has significant links with 

companies within the Investment Portfolio; or

• represents a significant shareholder.

Professional Development

On appointment, new Directors will take part in an

induction programme, which covers the Group's

investment strategy, policies and practices. New Directors

will also receive information on the role of the Board and

the matters reserved for its decision, the terms of reference

for the Board committees, the Company's corporate

governance practices and procedures and the latest financial

information. Throughout their time in office Directors are

continually updated on the Group's business, the

regulatory environment in which it operates and other

changes affecting the Group by its advisers through written

briefings and at Board meetings.

Performance Evaluation

The Board has formalised a process by which to evaluate its

own performance and that of the Chairman on an annual

basis. This process is based on an open discussion and

assessment of the Board and its Committees, with the

Chairman making recommendations to improve

performance where necessary. The Board considers

annually, in the absence of the Chairman, matters

pertaining to his performance.

Re-election

Directors are appointed subject to the provisions of the

Companies Act and the Company's Articles of Association.

The re-appointment of a Director is reviewed by the

Nomination Committee prior to a Director seeking re-

election at an impending AGM. Re-appointment is not

automatic and is subject to a review of performance. All

Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first

AGM after their appointment. Thereafter, all Directors are

subject to re-election in accordance with the Articles of

Association. No Director would serve more than three

years in office without shareholder approval. 

Directors' Remuneration

The Board as a whole considers Directors' remuneration in

accordance with the limits set by the Articles of Association

and a separate Remuneration Committee has not been

established.

During the year under review, the Chairman was paid a fee

of £35,000 per annum and the fee for each of the other

Directors who served during the year was £25,000 per

annum with the exception of Mr Wooderson who received

£30,000 in respect of his role as the Chairman of the Audit

Committee. Mr Rough received remuneration on a pro-

rated basis for the period from 1 January 2007 until the

date of his resignation from the Board on 1 May 2007.

Board Committees

In order to enable the Directors to discharge their duties,

three Board Committees, with written terms of reference,

have operated throughout the year. Committee

membership is set out on page 15 of this Report.

Attendance at the meetings of the various Committees is

restricted to members and those persons expressly invited

to attend. BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited acts as

Company Secretary to each Committee. Copies of the

terms of reference for the Board Committees are available

from the Company Secretary and are on the Company’s

website, www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED



25

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates within clearly defined

terms of reference and provides a forum through which

the Company's external Auditors report to the Board.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee

include monitoring the integrity of the Company's

Financial Statements and appropriateness of its

accounting policies; reviewing the internal control

systems and the risks to which the Company is exposed;

and making recommendations to the Board regarding

the appointment of the external Auditors, the

independence and objectivity of the Audit firm and the

effectiveness of the audit process. In accordance with the

recommendations of the Combined Code, the Audit

Committee's terms of reference were reviewed during the

financial year.

Mr Wooderson was appointed as the Chairman of the

Audit Committee in August 2001. The other members

comprise all the independent, non-executive Directors.

All members of the Committee have relevant financial

and investment experience, for the purposes of the

Combined Code requirements, as a result of their

current or recent employment in the financial services

and other industries. As the Chairman of the

Committee, Mr Wooderson has relevant and recent

financial experience as a result of his position as chief

executive of the Europe and North America trading

division of HBOS Plc.

As the Company has no employees there is no dedicated

resource to the Audit Committee. However,

representatives from the Investment Manager, who

produce the financial information for the Company, are

invited to attend and present on issues as required.

The Audit Committee regularly monitors the non-audit

services provided to the Group by its external Auditors,

and has developed a formal policy on auditor

independence to ensure that such services do not impair

the independence or objectivity of the Auditors. The

policy is based on the following key principles:

The Auditors should not:

• audit their own firm's work;

• make management decisions for the Company;

• have a mutuality of financial interest with the

Company, or

• be put in the role of advocate for the Company.

Prior approval of the Committee is required for any

services provided by the external Auditors where the fee

is likely to be in excess of £10,000. In any case, activities

that may be perceived to be in conflict with the role of

the external Auditor must be submitted to the

Committee for approval prior to engagement, regardless

of the amounts involved.

Details of the amounts paid to the external Auditors

during the financial year, for audit and other services are

set out in note 6 to the Financial Statements on page 51.

In addition to the above, the Audit Committee

discharged its responsibilities during the year under

review by:

• reviewing the Company's draft Financial Statements

and interim results statement prior to Board

approval;

• reviewing the decision to disapply the requirement

for the Company to establish an internal audit

function;

• reviewing the appropriateness of the Company's

accounting policies; and

• reviewing the Company's decision to rely on the

whistleblowing procedures of the main service

providers and assessing the adequacy of these

procedures.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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The Audit Committee convened three meetings during the

financial year ended 31 December 2007. All Committee

members attended the three meetings, except for Mr

Rough who was unable to attend the meeting which took

place prior to his resignation.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has defined terms of

reference and is responsible for identifying and nominating

to the Board new Directors, and for proposing that existing

Directors be re-elected prior to each AGM.

The Nomination Committee comprises all members of the

Board and is chaired by Mr Leslie Melville, except on those

occasions when the Committee is reviewing the

performance of the Chairman. In such instances, an

independent Director chairs the Committee. The

Nomination Committee meets at least annually and all

Directors attended two meetings held during the year

under review.

Management Engagement Committee

The Management Engagement Committee was established

to review the performance of the third party service

providers, including the Investment Manager, and to

review their terms of engagement. The Committee meets

annually and is chaired by Mr Leslie Melville. The

Committee consists of all the non-executive Directors of

the Company. All Committee members attended the

meeting held during the year under review except for 

Mr Rough.

The Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the

Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters

and ensuring compliance with applicable rules, regulations

and Company procedures. The Directors have access to the

advice and services of the Company Secretary through its

appointed representatives. The appointment and removal

of the Company Secretary is a matter for the whole Board.

Information

The Board is regularly provided with information to enable

it to discharge its duties. The Investment Manager provides

such information as requested by the Board in addition to

timely clarification or amplification of specific issues from

time to time. The Company Secretary is responsible for

ensuring good information flows.

Relations with Shareholders

The Directors are always available to enter into dialogue

with shareholders and the Company places a great deal of

importance upon such communications. The Investment

Manager, together with the Chairman if requested, is

available to meet with the Company's institutional

shareholders to discuss matters of the Company's

investment strategy, performance and governance.

Discussions with institutional shareholders are reported to

the Board.

All shareholders have the opportunity to attend and vote at

the AGM during which the Board and the Investment

Manager are available to discuss issues affecting the

Company. Proxy votes are declared at AGMs. As part of

the AGM, a presentation is made to shareholders on the

Company’s performance and prospects. Shareholders are

encouraged to attend the 2008 AGM and to vote on the

resolutions detailed in the Notice of the Meeting contained

in the accompanying Circular.

The Company discloses the full portfolio annually and the

top ten holdings are disclosed to the London Stock

Exchange as at each quarter end.
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Internal Controls

The Combined Code requires the Directors, at least

annually, to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the

Company’s systems of internal controls and to report to

shareholders that they have done so. This encompasses a

review of all controls, which the Board has identified as

including business, financial, operational, compliance and

risk management.

The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of

internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness.

Internal controls systems are designed to meet the

particular needs of the Company and the risks to which it

is exposed. They are designed to manage rather than

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives

and by their very nature provide reasonable but not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee considers annually whether there is

any need for an internal audit function. As all of the

Company's functions are delegated to third parties, and at

least the two major suppliers, the Investment Manager and

BNP Paribas Fund Services UK Limited, have their own

internal audit function, it has been agreed that it is

appropriate for the Company to rely on the internal audit

controls which are in place at these companies.

Accordingly, it has been agreed that it would be

inappropriate for the Company to have an internal audit

function.

The Investment Manager and Company Secretary have

established internal control frameworks to provide

reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of the internal

controls operated on behalf of their clients. The Investment

Manager reports to the Board on the operation of its

internal controls and risk management, in so far as it

impacts on the Company, and in addition, reports on

compliance within the terms of its delegated authority

under the Investment Management Agreement on a

quarterly basis. The Company Secretary also reports any

breaches of law and regulation as and when they arise. This

enables the Board to address any issues of concern

promptly, regarding the management of the Company as

and when they arise.

By the procedures set out above, and in accordance with

the Turnbull Guidance for Directors on the Combined

Code published by the Institute of Chartered Accountants

in England & Wales, the Directors have kept under review

the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls

throughout the year under review and up to the date of this

Report.

During the course of its review of the systems of internal

controls, the Board has not identified nor been advised of

any failings or weaknesses which it has determined to be

significant.

Statement of Compliance

The Directors have reviewed the principles of the

Combined Code and consider that, subject to the

exceptions listed above, the Company has complied with

the provisions of Section 1 of the Combined Code for the

year ended 31 December 2007 and up to the date of this

Report. The Company has also complied with the

guidelines of the AIC Code, with the exception of the

recommendation concerning the appointment of a Senior

Independent Director.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON REMUNERATION

The Directors are pleased to present their report on

remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2007,

in accordance with the requirements on Schedule 7A

of the Companies Act 1985 (the "Regulations").

The Group's Auditors are required to report on certain

information contained within this Report. Where

information set out below has been audited, it is

indicated as such. The Auditors' opinion is included

within the Auditors' Report on pages 31 and 32.

The Board comprises entirely of independent, non-

executive Directors and as a whole considers the

remuneration of Directors. Accordingly, it has not

appointed a separate Remuneration Committee. In

accordance with the Company’s Articles of

Association, new Directors are required to stand for

election at the first AGM following their appointment

and thereafter, are required to retire by rotation, so that

over a three-year period all Directors will have retired

from the Board and been offered up for re-election. No

Director has a contract of service with the Company.

The terms and conditions of the appointment of the

Directors are set out in the Directors’ letters of

appointment. A Director may resign by notice in

writing to the Board at any time; there is neither a

fixed notice period nor any entitlement to

compensation for loss of office.

Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

The Company’s policy is for the Chairman of the

Board and the Chairman of the Audit Committee to

be paid higher fees than the other Directors, to reflect

the more onerous roles, and for the Directors' fees to

be reviewed from time to time. It is the Company’s

policy that no Director shall be entitled to any benefits

in kind, share options, long-term incentives, pension

or other retirement benefits, or compensation for loss

of office. The Board considers it appropriate that no

aspect of Directors' remuneration should be

performance related in light of the Directors' non-

executive status. Directors are entitled to claim

expenses in respect of duties undertaken in connection

with the management of the Company and any

associated tax liabilities.

The Company’s Articles of Association for the time

being limit the fees payable to the Directors to

£150,000 per annum. The Company's policy is that

fees payable to the Directors should reflect the time

spent on the Company's affairs and the responsibilities

borne by the Directors and should be sufficient to

attract and retain candidates of a high calibre.

The Chairman of the Company is paid £35,000 per

annum, the Chairman of the Audit Committee is paid

£30,000 per annum and other Directors are paid

£25,000 per annum each.

The Board reviewed the level of fees paid to Directors

during the year, taking into account fees payable to

directors of other investment trust companies with a

comparable investment objective and it was agreed that

no increase to Directors fees would take place.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held

by the Company in respect of the Directors and is

renewed annually.
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DIRECTORS’ FEES (AUDITED)

The Directors who served during 2007 and 2006 received the following emoluments, excluding VAT:

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
£ £

I H Leslie Melville1 35,000 25,833

Sir John Guinness – 5,435

W J Maltby 25,000 15,833

D Rough 8,424 15,833

D J B Shearer2 12,240 –

M Wooderson3 30,000 16,250

Mr Rough resigned as a Director of the Company on 1 May 2007 and Mr Shearer was appointed as a
Director of the Company on 1 August 2007. Mr French was appointed as a Director on 1 March 2008
following the year end.

1These amounts were paid to Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) together with a charge for VAT at 17.5%. 

2These amounts were paid to D J B Shearer together with a charge for VAT at 17.5%.

3 These amounts were paid to Bank of Scotland together with a charge for VAT at 17.5%.

None of the Directors serve as directors of the Company’s subsidiary companies, Mithras Investments

Limited, Mithras Capital Holdings Limited and Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited. However, Mr Leslie

Melville was appointed as a representative of Mithras Capital Holdings Limited, the Designated Member of

Mithras Capital Partners LLP with effect from 30 March 2007.

No other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the year to any of the

current Directors. The Board received reimbursement of expenses of £1,810 (2006: £148) relating to costs

incurred in respect of Board meeting attendance during the year and duties undertaken in connection with

the management of the Company. 
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MITHRAS PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE FTSE ALL-SHARE INDEX

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FTSE All-Share Index Total Return

Mithras Share Price Total Return

Performance Graph

In accordance with the Regulations, the performance

graph below charts the cumulative share price total

return (assuming that all dividends are reinvested) to

ordinary shareholders since 31 December 2002. This

return is compared to the cumulative total shareholder

return on a notional investment in the FTSE All-Share

Index, which is the portfolio benchmark against which

the Company's performance is measured. The data has

been rebased to 100 at 31 December 2002 (the start of

the period covered by the graph).

By the order of the Board

Hamish Leslie Melville

Chairman

4 April 2008

Source:  Datastream 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC

We have audited the Consolidated and Company

Financial Statements (the ‘‘Financial Statements’’) of

Mithras Investment Trust plc for the year ended 31

December 2007 which comprise the Consolidated

Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company

Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated

and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and

Company Cash Flow Statements and the related

notes to the Financial Statements. These Financial

Statements have been prepared under the accounting

policies set out therein. We have also audited the

information in the Directors’ Report on

Remuneration that is described as having been

audited.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and

Auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the

Annual Report, the Directors’ Report on

Remuneration and the Financial Statements in

accordance with applicable law and International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by

the European Union are set out in the Statement of

Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements

and the part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration

to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and

regulatory requirements and International Standards

on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including

the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the

Company’s members as a body in accordance with

Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no

other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose

or to any other person to whom this report is shown or

into whose hands it may come save where expressly

agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the

Financial Statements give a true and fair view and

whether the Financial Statements and the part of the

Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited

have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation. We also report to you whether in our

opinion the information given in the Directors'

Report is consistent with the Financial Statements.

The information given in the Directors’ Report

includes the specific information presented in the

Performance Summary, Chairman’s Statement and

Investment Manager’s Review that is cross referred

from the Business Review section of the Directors’

Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the

Company has not kept proper accounting records, if

we have not received all the information and

explanations we require for our audit, or if

information specified by law regarding Directors’

remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance

Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with

the nine provisions of the Combined Code 2006

specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the

Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does

not. We are not required to consider whether the

Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks

and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or

its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual

Report and consider whether it is consistent with the

audited Financial Statements. The other information
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MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC CONTINUED

comprises only the Performance Summary, the

Chairman’s Statement, the Investment Manager’s

Review, Consolidated Investment Portfolio, Ten

Largest Investments, Review of Principal

Investments, the Directors’ Report, the unaudited

part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration and

the Corporate Governance Statement. We consider

the implications for our report if we become aware of

any apparent misstatements or material

inconsistencies with the Financial Statements. Our

responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence

relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the

Financial Statements and the part of the Directors’

Report on Remuneration to be audited. It also includes

an assessment of the significant estimates and

judgments made by the Directors in the preparation of

the Financial Statements, and of whether the

accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and

Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and

adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all

the information and explanations which we considered

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence

to give reasonable assurance that the Financial

Statements and the part of the Directors’ Report on

Remuneration to be audited are free from material

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other

irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also

evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of

information in the Financial Statements and the part of

the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited. 

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true

and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted

by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s

affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit and

cash flows for the year then ended;

• the Company Financial Statements give a true and

fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by

the European Union as applied in accordance with

the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the

state of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31

December 2007 and cash flows for the year then

ended;

• the Financial Statements and the part of the

Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited

have been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors' Report is

consistent with the Financial Statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London

4 April 2008
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended 31 December 2007 Year ended 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Net gains on investments 3 1,871 7,928 9,799 2,290 8,158 10,448

Other income 4 1,135 – 1,135 216 – 216

3,006 7,928 10,934 2,506 8,158 10,664

Expenses

Investment management fees 5 (334) (334) (668) (374) (374) (748)

Write back of prior years’ VAT 5 364 364 728 – – –

Other operating expenses 6 (705) – (705) (586) – (586)

Total operating expenses (675) 30 (645) (960) (374) (1,334)

Goodwill written off 2.4 – (148) (148) – – –

Profit before finance
costs and tax 2,331 7,810 10,141 1,546 7,784 9,330

Finance costs 8 (137) (86) (223) (318) – (318)

Finance revenue 8 – – – – 86 86

Finance costs - net (137) (86) (223) (318) 86 (232)

Profit before tax 2,194 7,724 9,918 1,228 7,870 9,098

Tax (expense)/credit 9 (532) 96 (436) (348) 65 (283)

Profit for the year 1,662 7,820 9,482 880 7,935 8,815

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 1,563 7,820 9,383 880 7,935 8,815

Minority interest 99 – 99 – – –

Basic and diluted earnings per 
ordinary share (pence) 11 4.3 21.6 25.9 2.4 21.9 24.3

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRSs.
The supplementary revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under the guidance published by
the AIC. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The Company has elected to take the exemption under Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 to not present
the parent Company Income Statement.

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue Minority

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Interest Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2006
At 1 January

(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 32,609 (16,933) 6,821 – 31,930

Profit for the year – – – 3,951 3,984 880 – 8,815

Equity dividends
(note 10) – – – – – (1,089) – (1,089)

At 31 December
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612 – 39,656

2007
Minority interest

on acquisition – – – – – – 7 7

Profit for the year – – – 9,218 (1,398) 1,563 99 9,482

Drawings – – – – – – (59) (59)

Equity dividends
(note 10) – – – – – (1,089) – (1,089)

At 31 December
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 45,778 (14,347) 7,086 47 47,997

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2006
At 1 January

(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 46,817 (27,512) 3,192 31,930

Profit for the year – – – 3,023 4,956 836 8,815

Equity dividends (note 10) – – – – – (1,089) (1,089)

At 31 December
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939 39,656

2007
Profit for the year – – – 9,500 (1,159) 1,042 9,383

Equity dividends (note 10) – – – – – (1,089) (1,089)

At 31 December
(notes 18, 19) 726 8,598 109 59,340 (23,715) 2,892 47,950

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December
2007 2006

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments 12 45,375 37,078

45,375 37,078
Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 937 134

Cash and cash equivalents 14 2,395 8,577

3,332 8,711

Total assets 48,707 45,789

Current liabilities

Borrowings 16 – (5,621)

Trade and other payables 15 (261) (285)

Current tax liabilities (299) (17)

(560) (5,923)

Total assets less current liabilities 48,147 39,866

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 17 (150) (210)

Net assets 47,997 39,656

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 18, 19 726 726

Share premium 19 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve 19 109 109

Capital reserve - realised 19 45,778 36,560

Capital reserve - unrealised 19 (14,347) (12,949)

Revenue reserve 19 7,086 6,612

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 47,950 39,656

Minority interest 19 47 –

Total equity 19 47,997 39,656

Net assets per ordinary share (pence) 20 132.1 109.3

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 27 March 2008.

They are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

Hamish Leslie Melville Mike Wooderson
Chairman Director

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December
2007 2006

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments 12 42,600 34,620

42,600 34,620

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 13 4,046 134

Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,800 8,355

5,846 8,489

Total assets 48,446 43,109

Current liabilities

Borrowings 16 – (1,897)

Trade and other payables 15 (189) (273)

Current tax liabilities (157) (17)

(346) (2,187)

Total assets less current liabilities 48,100 40,922

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 17 (150) (210)

Provision for liabilities and charges 17 – (1,056)

(150) (1,266)

Net assets 47,950 39,656

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 18, 19 726 726

Share premium 19 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve 19 109 109

Capital reserve - realised 19 59,340 49,840

Capital reserve - unrealised 19 (23,715) (22,556)

Revenue reserve 19 2,892 2,939

Total equity 47,950 39,656

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 27 March 2008.

They are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

Hamish Leslie Melville Mike Wooderson
Chairman Director

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year Year
ended ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Dividend income received 257 170

Interest income received 1,768 1,562

Deposit interest received 226 212

Investment management fees received 891 –

Investment management fee paid (699) (746)

Other income 18 3

Other operating expenses (570) (465)

Income taxes paid (213) (658)

Purchase of investments 12 (28,015) (10,503)

Sale of investments 12 27,572 16,168

Net cash from operating activities 1,235 5,743

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 2.3 (132) –

Proceeds from sale of investment in subsidiary 4 –

Net cash used in investing activities (128) –

Cash flows from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in term loans (5,678) 2,209

Finance costs paid (286) (234)

Equity dividends paid (1,089) (1,089)

Guaranteed drawings to minority interests (166) –

Profit share distributed to minority interests (60) –

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (7,279) 886

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (6,172) 6,629

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 8,577 1,956

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (10) (8)

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 14 2,395 8,577

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year Year
ended ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Dividend income received 257 170

Interest income received 1,667 1,562

Deposit interest received 212 204

Investment management fee paid (666) (699)

Other income 18 3

Other operating expenses (505) (461)

Income taxes paid (213) (658)

Purchase of investments 12 (28,015) (10,502)

Sale of investments 12 26,030 16,650

Loan to subsidiary (2,070) (487)

Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (3,285) 5,782

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary (30) –

Net cash used in investing activities (30) –

Cash flows from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in term loans (1,915) 1,896

Finance costs paid (225) (38)

Equity dividends paid (1,089) (1,089)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (3,229) 769

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
cash equivalents (6,544) 6,551

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 8,355 1,811

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (11) (7)

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 14 1,800 8,355

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mithras Investment Trust plc (the "Company") is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act 1985. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2007 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries, Mithras Investments Limited (“MIL”), Mithras Capital
Holdings Limited (“MCH”), Mithras Capital Partners LLP (“MCP”) and Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited
(“MCGP”), together referred to as the "Group". The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities
are set out in note 2.5 and in the Directors’ Report on page 16.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting polices adopted in preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS as adopted by the EU, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)
interpretations and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis, except for the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Investments are held at fair value and all
other assets and liabilities are held at carrying amounts, which approximate to their fair values unless
otherwise stated. In determining the analysis of total income and expenses as between capital return and
revenue return, the Directors have followed the guidance contained in the Statement of Recommended
Practice (the “SORP”) for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies in January
2003 (revised December 2005), to the extent that this is not inconsistent with the requirements of IFRSs.

In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company, supplementary information which
analyses the Consolidated Income Statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been
presented alongside the Consolidated Income Statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a
UK investment company under Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985, net capital returns may not be
distributed by way of dividend.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
The area where a higher degree of judgement or complexity arise, or areas where assumptions and estimates
significant to Consolidated Financial Statements relate to the valuation of unquoted investments. The most
significant techniques for estimation are described in the accounting policies below and in note 2.2 (f )
Investments.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations which were:

(i) Effective in 2007

IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, and the complementary amendment to IAS 1,
‘Presentation of financial statements – Capital disclosures’, introduces new disclosures relating to
financial instruments and does not have any impact on the classification and/or valuation of the
Group or Company’s financial instruments, or the disclosures relating to taxation and trade and
other payables. The additional disclosures provided in accordance with the requirements of the
standard are set out in note 26 to the Financial Statements.

IFRIC 10, ‘Interim financial reporting and impairment’, prohibits the impairment losses recognised
in an interim period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments and in financial assets
carried at cost to be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date. This standard does not have any
impact on the Group or Company’s Financial Statements.

(ii) Effective in 2007 but not relevant

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007 but they are not relevant to the Group or
Company’s operations:

• IFRS 4, ‘Insurance contracts’;

• IFRIC 7, ‘Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29, Financial reporting in hyper-
inflationary economies’; and

• IFRIC 9, ‘Re-assessment of embedded derivatives’.

(iii) Existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group and
Company

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published
and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 or later
periods, but the Group and Company have not adopted them early:

• IAS 23 (Amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment to the
standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. It requires an entity to capitalise
borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the cost of 
that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. The 
Group will apply IAS 23 (Amended) from 1 January 2009, subject to endorsement by the EU. 

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The standard is still subject to
endorsement by the EU. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14 and aligns segment reporting with
the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures about segments of an enterprise and
related information’. The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment 
information is presented on the same  basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. The 
Group will apply IFRS 8 from 1 January 2009,  subject to endorsement by the EU. The expected 
impact is still being assessed in detail by management.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued
(b) Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the results, assets and liabilities, and cash flows of the
Company and its subsidiaries, MIL, MCH, MCP and MCGP. All intra group transactions, balances,
income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

The interest of minority members is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and
liabilities recognised. Subsequently, minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets
in subsidiaries that is not held by the Group and are presented separately in the Consolidated Income
Statement, and within equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, separately from parent shareholders’
equity. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in the Consolidated Income Statement
from the effective date of acquisition.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
policies used into line with those used by the Group.

In the Financial Statements of the Company, investments in subsidiaries are recognised at fair value.

(c) Foreign currency translation/transactions
(i) The Group’s functional and presentation currency is pounds Sterling since that is the currency of the

primary economic environment in which the Group operates. 

(ii) Transactions in currencies other than pounds Sterling are translated at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date financial assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
Gains and losses arising on translation are included in the Consolidated Income Statement and
presented as revenue or capital as appropriate.

(d) Recognition of income
Investment income includes net gains/(losses) on investments, while interest income on cash and cash
equivalents is shown as other income in the revenue return column of the Consolidated Income
Statement.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and using
the effective interest rate method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the investment to that investment’s net carrying amount. Provision is made
for the element of interest income which is not expected to be received in line with the provision made
against the principal.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment has
been established, normally the ex-dividend date. Provision is made for any dividends not expected to be
received.

Income from limited partnership funds is recognised on an appropriation basis. The limited partnership
funds allocate income once a year, after the general partners’ priority profit share has been allocated in
the partnerships’ annual tax returns.

Management fee income is accrued over the period for which the service is provided.

(e) Expenses
All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. In respect of the analysis between revenue and capital
items presented within the Consolidated Income Statement, all expenses have been presented as revenue
items except as follows:

(i) Expenses which are incidental to the disposal of an investment are deducted from the disposal
proceeds of the investment.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued
(ii) Expenses are split and presented partly as capital items where a connection with the maintenance or

enhancement of the value of the investments can be demonstrated. Accordingly, the investment 
management fee (inclusive of the appropriated limited partnership funds’ general partners’ priority
profit share, any irrecoverable VAT thereon and any write back of VAT) has been allocated 50% 
to revenue and 50% to capital. Tax relief attributable to the investment management fees charged to 
capital is credited to the capital return. The Directors consider this apportionment to be appropriate, 
having regard to the expected split of the long-term investment returns as between revenue and
capital.

(iii) Transaction costs are disclosed within the net gains and losses on investments.

(f) Investments
Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for at settlement date for unquoted investments and trade
date for quoted investments. On initial recognition, the Group and the Company have designated all
investments, including investments in the subsidiaries, as held at fair value through profit or loss, with all
gains and losses reflected in the Consolidated Income Statement, including foreign currency gains and
losses on translation of investments at the balance sheet date.

The Group manages and evaluates the performance of these investments on a fair value basis in
accordance with its investment strategy and information about the Group is provided internally on this
basis to the entity’s key management personnel.

The fair values of quoted bond and quoted equity investments are valued at bid market prices, together
with  accrued interest, where applicable and exclude dividend income.

Significant investments made by the Company in limited partnership funds managed by 
LGV are accounted for as unquoted investments. The Company incorporates its attributable
proportion, as a limited partner, of the assets and liabilities and income and expenses of these funds.
The fair value of unquoted investments managed by LGV is calculated in accordance with the
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, which became effective from 1
January 2005.

MCF is valued at the manager’s valuation where this is consistent with the requirement to use fair value.
The Board and Investment Manager perform a reasonableness review of the valuations provided by MCP.
Valuations are adjusted where better indications of fair value become available, such as transactions in
investee companies or material movements in the value of quoted investments within funds. 

The valuation policies are set out below:

• Primary valuation methods, namely, earnings multiples, price of a recent investment or net asset 

basis, are normally used in determining fair value.

• Fair values determined by earnings multiples are calculated using the following approach:

– apply a multiple that is appropriate and reasonable to maintainable earnings of the company to
derive the Enterprise Value;

– adjust the Enterprise Value derived above for surplus assets or excess liabilities and other 
relevant factors to derive a revised Enterprise Value;

– deduct from the Enterprise Value all amounts relating to financial instruments ranking ahead
of the highest ranking instrument of the group in a liquidation in order to derive the Gross 
Attributable Enterprise Value;

– apply an appropriate Marketability Discount to the Gross Attributable Enterprise Value
derived above in order to derive the Net Attributable Enterprise Value; and

– apportion the Net Attributable Enterprise Value appropriately between the relevant financial
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued
Earnings multiples that may be used include price earnings ("P/E"), earnings before interest and tax
("EBIT") and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation ("EBITDA"). 

The Marketability Discount relates to the investment rather than to the underlying business. It is
therefore applied at the level at which the Group begins to participate in the Enterprise Value of the
investee company. In determining the Marketability Discount, all relevant factors will be considered,
including proximity to exit or influence of the Group over the timing of a realisation, and a discount in
the range of 10% to 30% will be applied.

Maintainable earnings are defined as earnings figures that can be relied upon. This can mean the use of
historical figures, but, where reliable, forecast earnings figures can be used.

• In circumstances where the valuation of an investment by earnings is deemed inappropriate, the
use of a net asset basis may be considered. Under this method, the net asset value will be computed and 
will  be taken as the Enterprise Value.

• Where a recent investment or transaction has been made in an investee company by an
independent third party, then the cost of this transaction may be used as an indication of value,
although only for a limited period following the date of the transaction.

• Where the realisation of an investment is imminent and the price of the sale transaction has been 
substantially agreed, the most likely valuation will involve the use of a simple discount to the
expected realisation proceeds.

• Where an investment comprises solely or substantially non-equity instruments such as mezzanine
loans, fair market value can be derived from the expected cash flows and risk attached to the 
instrument. In the case of valuing mezzanine loans, discounted cash flow techniques have been
applied to the instrument cash flows and are used to determine fair market value. These
discounted cash flow techniques are applied in conjunction with primary valuation techniques
such as earnings and net asset valuations and provide a useful cross-check on fair value.

• Where mezzanine loan investments have equity warrants attached, the warrants are treated as
equity and are valued separately from the mezzanine loan.

(g) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables do not carry any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly
stated at carrying value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

(i) Borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance 
charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted 
for on an accruals basis in the Consolidated Income Statement using the effective interest method and
are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period
in which they arise.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(j) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

(k) Capital reserves
The capital return component of total income is taken to the non-distributable capital reserves
within the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued
(l) Taxation

Tax recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax
charged or credited in the period. In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the tax effect of 
different items of expense is allocated between revenue and capital on the same basis as the particular item 
to which it relates, using the marginal method.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the difference between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Investment trusts which have approval as such under Section 842
of the ICTA are not liable for taxation on capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the assets to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised
or the liability settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Consolidated Income Statement, except when it
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

(m) Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders.

(n) Share capital
When the Company purchases its own shares the amount of the consideration paid, including directly
attributable costs, is deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled or realised.

2.3 Business Combinations
On 30 March 2007 the Company acquired, via its newly incorporated subsidiary MCH, 88% of the
partnership capital of Tandem Private Equity LLP, an FSA authorised private equity fund of funds manager,
which was renamed Mithras Capital Partners LLP upon completion. With effect from 1 April 2007 Mithras’s
holding was reduced to 83% on the admission of a new member. On 31 December 2007, the Company
acquired an additional 7% interest on the retirement of Gillian Brown.

The acquisition of MCP is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the cash consideration paid in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the acquisition. The acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities are recognised at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. The interest of minority members in the acquiree is initially measured at the
minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. 

Details of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

£’000

Purchase consideration
Cash paid 92
Costs directly attributable to acquisition 53

Total purchase consideration of acquisition 145

Fair value of net identifiable liabilities assumed (see below) 3

Goodwill 148

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:
Acquiree’s

Fair carrying
value amount
£’000 £’000

Debtors 5 5
Cash at bank 17 17

Total assets 22 22
Accruals and deferred income (falling due within one year) (17) (17)

Net assets acquired 5 5

Minority interest (8)

Fair value of net identifiable liabilities assumed (3)

£’000

Purchase consideration settled in cash 92
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (17)
Costs directly attributable to acquisition 53

Net cash outflow on acquisition 128

The revenues and net profit of MCP for the period to 31 December 2007 post acquisition are shown in note 2.5 Segment
Reporting.

The acquired business contributed other income of £897,000 and net profit of £445,000 to the Group for the period from
acquisition to 31 December 2007. There would have been no further impact on consolidated revenues and consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 December 2007 had the acquisition occurred on 1 January 2007.

2.4 Impairment of Goodwill
Goodwill is measured, after initial recognition, at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not 
amortised but is tested for impairment at least on an annual basis to determine whether events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the goodwill may not be recoverable. If any such indication
exists, the resultant loss (the difference between the carrying value and recoverable amount) is recorded as a 
charge in the Consolidated Income Statement. Impairment losses are not reversed.

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill in the year to 31 December 2007 totalled £148,000 and  represented 
set-up expenses and costs directly attributable to the acquisition of MCP.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.5 Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operators engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns which are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is
engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks
and returns which are different from those segments operating in other economic environments.

The Group is engaged in investing activities and private equity fund of funds management, focusing on 
achieving over the longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested. 
The private equity fund of funds management business is undertaken by MCP. 

Segmental information is presented below. As the private equity fund of funds management business was acquired
during the year, there is no comparative information to present.

Private equity
Investing fund of funds
activities management Consolidated

£’000 £’000 £’000

Net gains on investments 9,799 – 9,799
Other income 238 897 1,135
Investment management fees 60 – 60
Other operating expenses (400) (305) (705)
Goodwill written off (148) – (148)

Profit before finance costs and tax 9,549 592 10,141
Finance costs (223) – (223)
Tax expense (289) (147) (436)

Profit for the year 9,037 445 9,482

Private equity
Investing fund of funds
activities management Consolidated

£’000 £’000 £’000

Segment assets 48,341 366 48,707
Segment liabilities (655) (55) (710)

Net assets as at 31 December 2007 47,686 311 47,997

The Group makes investments into various geographical areas and the information about the total gains and losses
on investments and their fair value, analysed by geographical location, is presented in notes 3 and 12 to the Financial
Statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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3. NET GAINS ON INVESTMENTS

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.07 31.12.06
Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Realised (losses)/
gains on sale (251) 43 9,197 48 482 9,519 4,052

Revaluations recognised
in previous years 111 – (6,635) – (390) (6,914) (1,452)

Realised (losses)/gains
based on carrying
values at previous
balance sheet date (140) 43 2,562 48 92 2,605 2,600

Fair value movements† 870 (336) 4,153 2,188 154 7,029 7,962

Net foreign currency 
gains/(losses) on investments – 165 – – – 165 (114)

730 (128) 6,715 2,236 246 9,799 10,448

Comprising:
Revenue return 588 128 683 318 154 1,871 2,290

Capital return 142 (256) 6,032 1,918 92 7,928 8,158

†Includes interest income on investments during the year. The total fair value movement estimated using a valuation

technique was an increase of £5,340,000 (2006: an increase of £5,873,000).

Transaction costs on investments represent such costs incurred on both the purchase and disposal of those assets.

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.07 31.12.06
Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Segmental Analysis

UK 15 (102) 6,934 2,187 – 9,034 7,286

Denmark – – – – 246 246 2,828

France 225 (26) – – – 199 85   

Germany 124 – – – – 124 126

Netherlands 112 – – 49 – 161 37

US 107 – 17 – – 124 24

Japan – – – – – – 66

Continental Europe 147 – (236) – – (89) (4)

730 (128) 6,715 2,236 246 9,799 10,448

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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3. NET GAINS ON INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

During the year, material disposals and significant fair value movements of the following investments were

made:

Disposals Total Fair Value
Cost Proceeds 31 December 2006

£’000 £’000 £’000

UK Treasury 5% 07/03/12 6,726 6,383 6,624

LM Group 5,718 6,200 6,360

Kingfield Heath 1,574 3,866 2,116

South Lakeland Parks 1,116 2,422 1,116

Significant fair value movements Fair value
increase/ Fair Value

Cost (decrease) 31 December 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000

IDH 1,108 2,834 1,108

Craegmoor Healthcare 4,287 1,871 1,191

Classic Hospitals 1,995 991 1,963

Verna Group 208 456 202

Jeyes 1,097 266 330

LGC Group 1,307 164 1,677

SVG Capital plc 2,461 (246) 1,134

Candover Investments plc 2,468 (268) n/a

4. OTHER INCOME

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Management fee income 891 – 891 – – –

Deposit interest 226 – 226 213 – 213

Other operating income 18 – 18 3 – 3

1,135 – 1,135 216 – 216

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

5. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEES

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment management fees 131 137 268 120 120 240

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 6 – 6 21 21 42

Write back of prior years’ VAT (364) (364) (728) – – –

(227) (227) (454) 141 141 282

General partner’s priority profit share 197 197 394 233 233 466

(30) (30) (60) 374 374 748

Management fees are payable by the Group at rates varying between 0.5% per annum and 2% per annum of the
values of the Group’s assets, dependent upon the asset type. The rates per annum are 0.5% for cash and cash
equivalents; 1% for mezzanine, gilts, quoted corporate bonds, quoted equity and amounts invested in non-LGV
limited partnership funds excluding MCF; and 2% for unquoted equity not invested in LGV limited partnership
funds. For the investments in limited partnership funds, a general partner’s priority profit share of 1.5% of the
amount committed is appropriated in the first year, followed by 1.5% in the second and subsequent years on
amounts invested and reserved for follow on investments. Details of the terms of the Investment Management
Agreement are provided in the Directors’ Report on page 19.

Reclaim of  VAT from HMRC
In 2004 the AIC, together with JPMorgan Claverhouse Investment Trust plc, launched a case against HMRC to
challenge whether VAT should have been charged on fees paid for management services provided to investment
trust companies. On 28 June 2007 the ECJ delivered its judgement on the case in favour of the AIC. HMRC
announced in October 2007 that it would not appeal against the ECJ decision. This decision enables the Company’s
Investment Manager to reclaim a proportion of VAT paid on behalf of the Company to HMRC in periods since
April 2001.

A separate decision by the House of Lords on the Conde Nast Case in January 2008 ruled that the imposition of a
three year capping by HMRC, relating to claims submitted prior to 1 May 1997, was invalid. This decision enable
the Company’s Investment Manager to reclaim, in addition to the above, a proportion of VAT paid on behalf of the
Company to HMRC in periods between April 1990 and December 1996. Since then HMRC has accepted that
the provision of investment management services to investment trust companies is VAT exempt and has
acknowledged its liability to pay claims in respect of VAT borne by investment companies. 

VAT has not been applied to investment management fees invoiced in respect of periods since 1 October 2007.

The Company has entered into negotiations with the Investment Manager in respect of recovery from the
Investment Manager of the VAT for relevant periods.

Taking into account HMRC’s acceptance of the ECJ decision, LGV has committed to pay to the Company all
amounts recovered from HMRC. The Company is certain of recovering at least £760,000 of VAT via the
Investment Manager in respect of periods from 21 February 1994 to 30 September 1996 and from 1 April 2001
to 30 September 2007. This sum has been recognised within the current year as a recovery offset against investment
management fees paid and payable in the year to 31 December 2007. The write-back has been allocated between
revenue return and capital return according to the allocation of the amounts originally paid. The Company will
receive from the Investment Manager any interest paid by HMRC on the amounts eventually recovered. The Board
considers that there are currently too many uncertainties to allow any reasonable estimate of any further amounts
potentially recoverable to be calculated.
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6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
£’000 £’000

Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the Consolidated
and Company Financial Statements 76 69

Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the 
Company’s subsidiaries 9 –

Auditors’ remuneration - other services 15 72

Directors’ emoluments (note 7) 121 86

Other administrative expenses 311 346

Guaranteed drawings to minority interests 166 –

Exchange loss 7 13

705 586

Auditors' remuneration for other services relate to assistance on first-time adoption of IFRSs - £Nil (2006:
£46,000) and interim review - £15,000 (2006: £25,000 includes fee of £12,000 for the review of the 2005
interim report). 

The Company has had no employees in either year.

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each Director paid by the Company, in respect of qualifying services to the Group, were
as follows:

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
£’000 £’000

I H Leslie Melville 35* 26*

M Wooderson 30* 16*

Sir John Guinness – 5

D Rough 8 16

W Maltby 25 16

D J B Shearer 10* –

VAT 13 7

121 86

*these fees exclude VAT at 17.5%.

The emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £35,000 excluding VAT (2006: £25,833 excluding
VAT).
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8. FINANCE COSTS/(REVENUE)

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
£’000 £’000

Finance costs
Bank loans 137 318
Exchange losses on borrowings (86) –

223 318

Finance revenue
Exchange gains on borrowings – (86)

9. TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK corporation tax at 30%
(2006: 30%):

Current tax for the year 591 (67) 524 363 (132) 231

Adjustments in respect of 
prior periods (28) – (28) (4) (32) (36)

Total current tax 563 (67) 496 359 (164) 195

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal
of timing differences (31) (29) (60) (11) 99 88

Tax charge/(credit) on
ordinary activities 532 (96) 436 348 (65) 283
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9. TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) CONTINUED

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year: 

The effective current tax rate for the year is lower (2006: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK for a company of 30% (2006: 30%). The differences are explained below:

Group Group
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Return on ordinary activities
before taxation 2,194 7,724 9,918 1,228 7,870 9,098

Corporation tax at 30% 658 2,317 2,975 368 2,361 2,729

Effects of:

Adjustments to tax charge in 
respect of prior periods (28) – (28) (4) (32) (36)

Difference between taxable and
accounting gains and losses (5) (2,394) (2,399) (5) (2,143) (2,148)

Utilisation of tax losses (62) 10 (52) – (350) (350)

Current tax charge/(credit)
for the year 563 (67) 496 359 (164) 195

Factors which may affect future tax charges:

The Group has net unrelieved realised and unrealised losses and expenses carried forward of £19,530,000
(2006: £19,703,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses or expenses as at 
31 December 2007 or 31 December 2006, as it is considered more likely than not that there will be no
suitable profits emerging in future periods against which to relieve them.

Relief for these losses and expenses will only be obtained if there are suitable income and gains arising in future
periods.

The potential deferred tax asset unrecognised as at 31 December 2007 is £5,566,000 (2006: £5,911,000).

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate the tax relief on
expenses charged to capital is the “marginal” basis. Under this basis, to the extent that taxable income is
capable of being offset by expenses arising in the revenue account, no tax relief is taken in the form of expenses
charged to the capital account.
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10. DIVIDENDS

The following dividends were declared and paid by the Company:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2007 31 December 2006

£’000 £’000

Final dividend: 2.00p (2006: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 726

Special dividend: 1.00p (2006: 1.00p) per ordinary 2p share 363 363

The final dividend of 2.00 pence per ordinary share, for the year ended 31 December 2006, was paid on 8 May
2007 on 36,287,312 shares.

The special dividend of 1.00 pence per ordinary share, for the year ended 31 December 2006 in lieu of a 2007
interim dividend, was paid on 26 October 2007 on 36,287,312 shares. 

The following dividends were proposed by the Company and are subject to approval by shareholders at the
AGM. These proposed dividends, which form the basis of Section 842 of the ICTA, have not been included as
liabilities in these Financial Statements.

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2007 31 December 2006

£’000 £’000

Proposed final dividend: 2.00p (2006: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 726

Proposed special dividend: 2.00p (2006: 1.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 363

11. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2007 31 December 2006

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital
Return Return Total Return Return Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and
diluted earnings per share being net 
profit attributable to equity holders 1,563 7,820 9,383 880 7,935 8,815

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
for the purpose of calculating basic and 
diluted earnings per share 36,287,312 36,287,312

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary
share (pence) 4.3 21.6 25.9 2.4 21.9 24.3
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12. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS

Group Group
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.07 31.12.06
Group Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1.1.07 12,110 2,657 14,760 1,191 6,360 37,078 34,121

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost 5,987 6,753 15,275 – – 28,015 10,503

Sales  - proceeds (8,137) (264) (12,923) (48) (6,200) (27,572) (16,168)

- realised gains (140) 43 2,562 48 92 2,605 2,600

Fair value movements†± 142 (461) 3,469 2,186 (252) 5,084 6,136

Unrealised currency
movements – 165 – – – 165 (114)

Fair value at 31.12.07 9,962 8,893 23,143 3,377 – 45,375 37,078

Opening cost 12,460 2,635 11,033 4,065 5,718 35,911 37,364

Closing cost 9,962 9,167 22,582 4,287 – 45,998 35,911

Segmental Analysis

UK – 7,472 12,008 3,377 – 22,857 25,232   

Denmark – – – – – – 6,360   

France 3,304 1,421 – – – 4,725 1,773

Germany 1,877 – – – – 1,877 1,842

Netherlands 1,559 – – – – 1,559 –

US 1,889 – 4,199 – – 6,088 1,871

Continental Europe 1,333 – 6,936 – – 8,269 –

Fair value at 31.12.07 9,962 8,893 23,143 3,377 – 45,375 37,078

† Includes capitalised interest of £246,000 (2006: £571,000).

± Includes accrued interest movements.
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12. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Company Company
Quoted Investments Unquoted Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.07 31.12.06
Company Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Mezzanine Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1.1.07 12,110 2,657 14,760 313 4,780 34,620 32,276

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost 5,987 6,753 15,275 – – 28,015 10,502

Sales  - proceeds (8,137) (264) (12,923) (48) (4,658) (26,030) (16,650)

- realised gains (140) 43 2,562 (48) 69 2,582 2,125

Fair value movements†± 142 (461) 3,469 289 (191) 3,248 6,457

Unrealised currency
movements – 165 – – – 165 (90)

Fair value at 31.12.07 9,962 8,893 23,143 602 – 42,600 34,620

Opening cost 12,238 2,635 11,033 14,416 4,295 44,617 47,942

Closing cost 9,962 9,167 22,582 14,420 – 55,968 44,780

† Includes capitalised interest of £Nil (2006: £302,000).

± Includes accrued interest movements.

Includes subsidiary undertakings at book cost of £13,970,000 (2006: £13,940,000).

The Company owns 100% of the issued ordinary share capital and voting rights of MIL, which is registered in England
and Wales and whose business is the provision of equity and mezzanine finance. In the Financial Statements of the
Parent Company, the investment in MIL was valued at nil at 1 January 2007 and 31 December 2007.

During the year, the Company set up and now owns 100% of the issued ordinary share capital and voting rights of a
newly incorporated subsidiary, MCH, a holding company registered in England and Wales. In the Financial
Statements of the Parent Company , the investment in MCH was valued at £228,000 at 31 December 2007.

During the year, the Company acquired via MCH an 83% interest in MCP, which is registered in Scotland and whose
business is the provision of investment management services. At 31 December 2007 the Company’s interest in MCP
increased to 90%. This investment was valued at £259,000 at 31 December 2007 and was considered in the valuation
of MCH above.

Gillian Brown, while remaining on the board of MCP, has been succeeded by Bernie Boylan as chief executive officer.

£’000

Investment in subsidiary undertakings at cost

Brought forward at 1 January 2007 13,940

Investment during year 30

Carried forward at 31 December 2007 13,970
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year:

Prepayments and accrued income 937 134 930 134

Loan to subsidiary† – – 13,069 10,947

Less provisions for subsidiary liabilities – – (9,953) (10,947)

937 134 4,046 134

†The loan to subsidiary is interest free and payable on demand.

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 409 377 150 155

Short-term deposits 1,986 8,200 1,650 8,200

2,395 8,577 1,800 8,355

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 5.9% (2006: 5.1%) and these deposits have an average
maturity of 18 days.

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current - due within one year:

Accruals 261 285 189 273

261 285 189 273
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16. BORROWINGS

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current - due within one year:

Unsecured term loan – 5,592 – 1,887
Accrued interest – 29 – 10

– 5,621 – 1,897

The unsecured term loan, from a revolving credit facility of £35 million, is repayable by June 2012.
Interest accrues at 1.85% over LIBOR or EURIBOR. This loan can be drawn in any currency which the
facility agent confirms is available in the London foreign exchange market.

17. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2007 2006 2007 2006
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax liability 150 210 150 210

Provision for subsidiary liabilities
(see note 22) – – – 1,056

150 210 150 1,266

The provision for deferred tax consists of the following amounts due to the difference between tax and
accounting gains:

Group and Company
£’000    

At 31 December 2006 210

Release of provisions during the year (60)

At 31 December 2007 150

18. SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company Group and Company
31 December 2007 31 December 2006
£’000 Number £’000 Number

Authorised ordinary shares of 2p each 1,000 50,000,000 1,000 50,000,000

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
ordinary shares of 2p each 726 36,287,312 726 36,287,312

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.
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19. EQUITY

Capital Capital Capital
Group Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue Minority

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Interest
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612 –

Minority interest on
acquisition – – – – – – 7

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,563 265

Goodwill written off – – – (148) – – –

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089) –

Guaranteed drawings to
minority interests – – – – – – (225)

Transfer on disposals
of investments – – – 6,914 (6,914) – –

Gains on disposals
of investments – – – 2,514 – – –

50% management fees – – – (334) – – –

Write back of prior
years’ VAT – – – 364 – – –

Taxation credited
to capital – – – 67 29 – –

Fair value movements† – – – 90 5,068 – –

Foreign exchange gains
on investments – – – 91 165 – –

Foreign exchange (losses)/ 
gains on financing loans – – – (340) 254 – –

At 31 December 2007
726 8,598 109 45,778 (14,347) 7,086 47

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

Under the terms of the Company’s Articles of Association, sums standing to the credit of Other Capital
Reserves are available for distribution only by way of redemption or purchase of any of the Company’s own
shares. The Company may only distribute accumulated “realised” profits.

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales has issued guidance (TECH 01/08), stating
that profits arising out of a change in fair value of assets, recognised in accordance with the Accounting
Standards may be distributed, provided the relevant assets can be readily converted info cash. Securities listed
on a recognised stock exchanges are generally regarded as being readily convertible into cash and hence
unrealised profits in respect of such securities currently included within Capital Reserves – Unrealised, may
be regarded as distributable under Company Law.  At 31 December 2007, the Group had unrealised losses
amounting to £243,000 in respect of such securities.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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19. EQUITY CONTINUED

Company Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,042

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 6,817 (6,817) –

Gains on disposals of investments – – – 2,514 – –

50% management fees – – – (334) – –

Write back of prior
years’ VAT – – – 364 – –

Taxation credited to capital – – – – 29 –

Fair value movements† – – – 90 5,474 –

Foreign exchange gains on investments – – – 68 165 –

Foreign exchange losses on
financing loans – – – (19) (10) –

At 31 December 2007 726 8,598 109 59,340 (23,715) 2,892

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s profit and loss account is not separately
presented. The profit for the year ended 31 December 2007 for the Company was £9,383,000.



19. EQUITY CONTINUED

Group Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2006 726 8,598 109 32,609 (16,933) 6,821

Profit for the year – – – – – 880  

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 1,452 (1,452) –

Gains on disposals of investments – – – 2,600 – –

50% management fees – – – (374) – –

Taxation credited/(charged) to capital – – – 164 (99) –

Fair value movements† – – – 109 5,563 –

Foreign exchange losses on investments – – – – (114) –

Foreign exchange gains on
financing loans – – – – 86 –

At 31 December 2006 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

Company Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2006 726 8,598 109 46,817 (27,512) 3,192

Profit for the year – – – – – 836

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 1,026 (1,026) –

Gains on disposals of investments – – – 2,125 – –

50% management fees – – – (374) – –

Taxation credited/(charged) to capital – – – 137 (99) –

Fair value movements† – – – 109 6,157 –

Foreign exchange loss on investments – – – – (86) –

Foreign exchange gains on
financing loans – – – – 10 –

At 31 December 2006 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

20. NET ASSETS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The basic total net assets per ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to equity holders shown
in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 December 2007 and on 36,287,312 (31 December 2006:
36,287,312) ordinary shares, being the number of ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2007. The net
asset per ordinary share includes current year revenue reserves.

There is no dilution effect and therefore no difference between the diluted total net assets per ordinary share and
the basic total net assets per ordinary share stated above.

21. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY HOLDERS’ FUNDS

Group Group
31 December 2007 31 December 2006

£’000 £’000

Opening equity holders’ funds 39,656 31,930

Total recognised gains and losses: revenue 1,662 880

Total recognised gains and losses: capital 7,820 7,935

Equity dividends (1,089) (1,089)

Minority interest share in profits for the year (99) –

Closing equity holders’ funds 47,950 39,656

22. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

The following were subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2007:

Country of Holdings Net
operation, and voting assets/ Profit

registration and rights (liabilities) before tax
incorporation % £’000 £’000

Mithras Investments Limited England 100 (9,953) 2,050

A subsidiary of Mithras Investment Trust plc, incorporated on 19 January 1990, to carry on business as an
investment company.

Mithras Capital Holdings Limited England 100 228 143

A subsidiary of Mithras Investment Trust plc, incorporated on 6 February 2007, to carry on the business of a
holding company.

Mithras Capital Partners LLP England 90 305 582

A subsidiary of Mithras Capital Holdings Limited, acquired on 30 March 2007, to carry on the business of
providing investment management services.

Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited Scotland 90 6 9

A subsidiary of Mithras Capital Partners LLP, incorporated on 9 June 2006, to carry on the business of
providing investment management services.

No dividends were paid by any of the subsidiaries during the year.
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23. GUARANTEES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)   Guarantees
The  Company has agreed to provide such financial support to MIL as it may require to continue trading as
a going concern.

The Company has guaranteed all the borrowings of MIL in favour of Bank of Scotland plc as lender.
These borrowings amounted to £nil as at 31 December 2007 (2006: £3.7 million).

The unsecured term loan accrues interest at 1.85% over LIBOR or EURIBOR.

(b)   Commitments
The Company has made a commitment in 2007 to invest up to £60 million in MCF. There was an
outstanding commitment of £45.3 million at 31 December 2007.

The Company has outstanding commitments in LGV 2, LGV 3, LGV 4 and LGV 5 of £0.3 million, £1.2
million, £1.1 million and £7.5 million at 31 December 2007 respectively.

24. INVESTMENT MANAGER’S INCENTIVE SCHEME

Under the terms of the Investment Management Agreement dated 14 February 1994, as subsequently amended,
which remained in force throughout the year, certain directors and managers of LGV are entitled to purchase
7.5% in total of the equity shares or warrants in each of the directly held investments subscribed for by the
Company. This is known as the co-investment scheme. 

These employees of LGV held investments totalling £66,000 as at 31 December 2007 (2006: £65,000). They
may not dispose of their holdings before the Company has had an opportunity to do so.

Since the Company started investing in the LGV Private Equity Limited Partnership Funds (“the Funds”), the
above Investment Manager's co-investment scheme for private equity investments has ceased. It has been replaced
by a carried interest scheme via the Funds. The economic interest of the Investment Manager’s employees
participating in the carried interest scheme is aligned with that of third party investors by co-investing in the
Funds. Certain performance conditions are applied whereby any gains achieved through the carried interest
associated with the Funds are conditional upon a certain minimum return being generated for investors.
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25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Company entered into the following transactions with
related parties:

(a) Under the Investment Management Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19 December
1995 (as amended), the Group paid fees totalling £306,000 (2006: £282,000) (inclusive of VAT) to
LGV,  of which £68,000 was outstanding at 31 December 2007 (2006: £67,000).

(b) Under the terms of the LGV Private Equity Funds’ Limited Partnership Agreements, in the event that
the income and capital gains of a partnership in any accounting year are less than the amount to be
allocated, any deficiency not already drawn down by the general partner may be advanced as an interest
free loan. In the event that any part of the general partner’s share then outstanding is subsequently 
satisfied by an allocation of net income or capital gains to the general partner, such allocation shall be 
applied in the discharge of an equivalent amount of such loan. The Company’s share of the amount
appropriated to the general partner as at 31 December 2007 was £302,000 (2006: £362,000).

(c) The Company invests in companies and limited partnerships in which other funds managed by LGV 
invest.

(d) Details of the co-investment and the carried interest schemes in which executives and directors of LGV
participate are given in note 24.

(e) During the year the Company invested in MCF, which is managed by MCP. A carried interest scheme 
operates for the founder partners in the scheme, whereby any gains achieved through the carried interest 
associated with MCF are conditional upon a certain minimum return being generated for investors.

(f ) Under the terms of the MCP Limited Liability Partnership Agreement dated 30 March 2007, the
minority interests are entitled to guaranteed drawings which rank ahead of any profit allocation to
MCH. In the event that the profits of MCP are insufficient to meet the guaranteed drawings, the
deficiency is paid to minority interests by way of an interest-free loan from MCP. In the event that any
part of the guaranteed drawings then outstanding is subsequently satisfied by an allocation of profits,
such allocation shall be applied in the discharge of an equivalent amount of such loan. The guaranteed
drawings paid to minority interests amounted to £166,000 for the year to 31 December 2007.

(g) Legal & General Assurance Society Limited held 34.68% of the ordinary share capital of the Company
as at 4 April 2008. The chief executive of the Investment Manager, in his personal capacity, held 
3.43% of the ordinary share capital of the Company as at 4 April 2008.

(h) The total amounts paid to Directors of the Company are outlined in note 7, of which £40,000 
including VAT was outstanding at 31 December 2007 (2006: £19,000).
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is an investment company as defined by Section 266 of the Companies Act 1985 and
conducts its affairs so as to qualify as an investment trust under the provisions of Section 842 of the ICTA.

The Group’s financial instruments comprise:

(a) Securities primarily in unquoted companies held in accordance with the Group’s investment objective
set out below (refer note 12). 

(b) Participation in limited partnership funds which invest primarily in unquoted companies held 
accordance with the Group’s investment objective (refer note 12).

(c) A loan facility,  the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Group’s operations (refer note 16).

(d) Cash and liquid resources that arise directly from the Group’s operations, including gilts and quoted
corporate bonds (refer notes 12 and 14).

The Group’s current objective is to provide shareholders, over the longer term, a total return in excess of the FTSE
All-Share Index with dividends reinvested. The Group aims to achieve this by investing primarily in private equity
whilst maintaining the Company’s investment trust status and its status as a PEP and ISA qualifying investment.
Investments are made with an anticipated holding period of three to five years. Investment agreements will,
however, usually provide that any loans advanced to investee companies are for a longer period than this. The
agreements will usually provide for full repayment on the sale or flotation of investee companies.

In pursuing its objectives, the Group faces risks to both assets and revenue. These risks, and the Board’s approach
to the management of them, which is unchanged from 2006, are as follows:
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Risk

Market The Group’s assets consist principally of
Price unquoted investments. The value of
these investments is partially determined
by market forces.

Currency The Group’s assets consist of a
combination of Sterling and non- Sterling
investments. The value of non-Sterling
investments and the income thereon can
change according to movements in
exchange rates

Management of Risk

All the investments of the Group are held at fair
value as at 31 December 2007, in accordance with
the Group’s valuation policy, details of which are
given in note 2.2 (f) Investments. The Board meets
quarterly to review investment performance and
financial results. It monitors compliance with the
Group’s objectives and is responsible for investment
strategy, asset allocation and gearing. 

The Group’s investments are across a range of
industry sectors.

It is the Group’s policy to offset non-Sterling
denominated mezzanine investments using
currency borrowings, so that there is minimal
currency exposure. The Group has exposure to
currency fluctuations on its equity and non-
mezzanine investments. The Board reviews and
agrees the policy for managing these risks at its
quarterly meetings.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Risk

Interest Exposure to interest rate movements
Rate on any mismatch between mezzanine

investments and bank borrowing. 

Exposure to mis-matched interest
payments due to servicing of non-
performing loans.

Credit Failure of investee companies to pay
interest on, or to repay, debt securities
within the prescribed time.

Failure of the Group to meet its
banking covenants due to poor
performance of its investments.

Failure by counterparties to deliver
securities for which the Group has
paid, or to pay for securities which the
Group has delivered.

Failure by counterparties to return
maturing cash deposits.

Liquidity Difficulty in realising assets or
otherwise raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial
instruments.

Management of Risk

The Group finances its mezzanine investments
through a loan facility and out of retained profits.
The loan facility is at floating rates of interest. The
interest rate risk on the loan facility is mitigated by
charging interest on the mezzanine loan investments
at the same rate as the loan facility plus a margin.All
mezzanine investments were realised during the year
and, as at 31 December 2007, the Group had no
bank borrowings.

The Group has previously written down some
mezzanine assets on which loan interest is payable.
The Board monitors these exposures quarterly and
has changed its investment strategy to encourage
greater asset growth, in order to repay these loans.

The Board manages the credit risk inherent in the
Group’s portfolio by ensuring full and timely access
to relevant information from the Investment
Manager. The Board meets quarterly and reviews
investment performance and the financial results of
the underlying investee companies.

The Board monitors the Group’s banking covenants
at least quarterly and takes necessary actions to
maintain compliance.

Transactions in unquoted securities are generally
either settled through lawyers or paid to existing
portfolio companies.

Transactions in listed quoted securities are settled
against delivery using approved brokers. The risk of
default is considered minimal. 

Cash deposits are placed with counterparties with a
recognised credit rating of A1 or equivalent.

The Group’s investments are principally in unquoted
companies which are inherently illiquid. Investments
are funded out of shareholders’ funds and bank
borrowings. All mezzanine investments were realised
during the year and, as at 31 December 2007, the
Group had no bank borrowings.

The Group seeks to have cash generally available to
meet short-term financial needs and also has the
power to take out borrowings, both short and long-
term. Its current loan facility is £35 million, which
expires within five years.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Market price risk exposures
Fund

Consumer Consumer of Total
goods services Financials Healthcare Industrials funds investments
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2007

Quoted bonds – 1,808 8,154 – – – 9,962

Quoted private equity – – 8,893 – – –  8,893

Unquoted investments 514 733 – 9,697 1,574 14,002 26,520

514 2,541 17,047 9,697 1,574 14,002 45,375

At 31 December 2006

Quoted bonds – 1,772 10,338 – – – 12,110

Quoted private equity – – 2,657 – – –  2,657

Unquoted investments 310 7,673 – 4,836 9,492 – 22,311

310 9,445 12,995 4,836 9,492 – 37,078

Market price sensitivity
Changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk include changes in earnings multiples used in valuing
unquoted equity investments, as described in note 2.2f, benchmark interest rates and foreign exchange rates.

The profit of the Group is sensitive to the factors mentioned above. The sensitivity analysis presented below is
based on reasonable possible changes to market price and other factors which may affect the fair value of
investments. The effect on revenue return is not significant at either balance sheet dates.

At 31 December 2007, if the value of investments had increased or decreased by the reasonable possible percentage
changes listed below, the effect on the fair value of investments, capital return, total return and net assets would
have been higher or lower by:

Reasonable possible
change to market 2007 2006

Investment market price % £’000 £’000

Quoted bonds 2 199 242

Quoted private equity 10 889 266

Unquoted fund of funds 5 700 –

Unquoted company investments 10 1,252 2,231

3,040 2,739

The Directors are of the opinion that, compared to the unquoted company investments in the Group's portfolio,
the fund investments in MCF are far more diversified by geographical region, market sector and number of
underlying investments and therefore MCF has a lower overall exposure market price risks. 
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Foreign currency risk exposures

Foreign Foreign Foreign Net
currency Foreign currency currency foreign

equity currency monetary monetary currency
investments cash investments liabilities assets

Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2007
Euro 8,357 – – – 8,357
US Dollars 4,199 – – – 4,199

12,556 – – – 12,556

31 December 2006

Euro – – 6,360 (5,621) 739

The amounts presented above are not representative of the exposures to foreign currency throughout the year
as significant investment was made into foreign currency equity investments. The maximum and minimum
exposures to foreign currency during the year were:

2007 2006
Maximum Minimum Maximum Minimum

Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Euro 8,357 1,841 768 259
Pound Sterling 4,199 – – –

12,556 1,841 768 259

Foreign currency sensitivity
The profit of the Group is sensitive to fluctuations in exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis presented below is
based on the Group's foreign currency financial instruments and on percentages applied to the exchange rates at
31 December, which have been determined based on market volatility in exchange rates rates over the year. The
effect on revenue return is not significant at either balance sheet dates.

At 31 December 2007, if exchange rates had strengthened or weakened against the pound Sterling, with all other
variables held constant, the effect on the capital return, total return and net assets would have been an increase or
a decrease of:

2007 2006
Effects of Effects of Effects of Effects of

Change in exchange exchange Change in exchange exchange
exchange rate rate exchange rate rate

rates increase decrease rates increase decrease
Currency % £’000 £’000 % £’000 £’000

Pound Sterling +/-7 (547) 629 +/-2 (26) 27
Euro +/-4 (162) 175 n/a – –

(709) 804 (26) 27
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Interest rate risk exposures

Floating Floating Fixed
rate rate rate Net

assets liabilities assets Total
Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2007
Pound Sterling 3,632 – 20,060 23,692

At 31 December 2006
Pound Sterling 385 – 25,865 26,250
Euro 6,360 (5,592) – 768

6,745 (5,592) 25,865 27,018

The amounts presented above are not representative of the exposures to interest rates throughout the year as
the levels of monetary assets and liabilities have changed. The maximum and minimum exposures to interest
rate risk during the year were:

2007 2006
Maximum Minimum Maximum Minimum

Financial instrument £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Floating rate assets 243 4,097 6,745 4,179
Floating rate liabilities – – (5,592) (3,628)
Fixed rate assets 30,027 19,303 25,865 24,211

30,270 23,400 27,018 24,762

Interest rate sensitivity
The profit of the Group is sensitive to changes interest rates. The sensitivity analysis presented below assumes
reasonable changes in interest rates. The effect on capital return is not significant at either balance sheet
dates.

At 31 December 2007, if interest rates had increased or decreased by 0.25%, with all other variables held
constant, the effect on revenue return, total return and net assets would have been an increase or decrease
respectively of:

2007 2006
Financial instrument £’000 £’000

Floating rate assets 9 17
Floating rate liabilities – (14)

9 3

Interest rate changes also affect the price of fixed interest rate assets and hence the capital return, but this
impact has not been determined. This is an element of market price risk and is included in that disclosure.

Floating rate liabilities are subject to interest rates at 1.85% over LIBOR and EURIBOR.

The Group has a borrowing facility of £35 million (2006: £10 million) that expires in June 2012. The
undrawn element of this facility is £35 million (2006: £4.4 million).
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Floating rate assets are subject to interest rates which are reset semi-annually and are based on LIBOR and
EURIBOR plus margins varying between 1% and 4%.

Fixed rate monetary assets denominated in pound Sterling, excluding preference shares which have no
maturity, have a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.1% (2006: 5.1%) and a weighted average
maturity of 2.6 years (2006: 4.8 years).

The Group does not trade in financial instruments.

Credit risk exposures

31 December 31 December
2007 2006
Total Total

Credit risk rating % %

AAA 62 36
A1 12 20
A1+ 21 25
Non-rated 5 19

100 100

Compared to the amounts included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the maximum exposure to credit risk
at 31 December was as follows:

2007 2006
Balance Maximum Balance Maximum

sheet exposure sheet exposure
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investments 45,375 13,051 37,078 25,326 
Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 937 775 134 95
Cash and cash equivalents 2,395 2,395 8,577 8,577

48,707 16,221 45,789 33,998

None of the Group's financial liabilities are past due or impaired.

All unquoted investments are managed as equity investments with exposure to market risk. 
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Liquidity risk exposures

Greater
Less than 3-12 than
1 month months 1 year Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2007
Trade and other payables 261 – – 261
Current tax 96 203 – 299
Deferred tax – – 150 150

357 203 150 710

31 December 2006
Trade and other payables 285 – – 285
Current tax 20 34 (37) 17
Deferred tax – – 210 210
Borrowings – 5,621 – 5,621

305 5,655 173 6,133

27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure that the Group has adequate resources to continue
as a going concern, so that it can achieve a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index, whilst
maintaining its status as an investment trust.

Investments are funded out of shareholders’ funds and bank borrowings. The Group has a £35m credit facility
in place, which can be drawn upon by MIT or MIL subject to certain financial covenants being met:

• The ratio of total consolidated assets, after deducting current liabilities, to total net debt must be at least
3:1. As at 31 December 2007, MIT and MIL had total net cash, including UK Gilts and quoted corporate
bonds,  of £11.9m (2006: net cash £15.1m).

• The net assets must be at least £35m. As at 31 December 2007, the tangible net worth was £46.4m, which
equates to the equity attributable to equity holders of the Company of £48.0m less revenue return
attributable to equity holders of the Company of £1.6m (2006: £38.8m).

The private equity fund of funds management business is regulated by the FSA and must meet certain capital
requirements to operate. As at 31 December 2007, this company’s capital was above the regulatory capital
requirements by £65,000.

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In February 2008, LGV 5 distributed £3.8 million to Mithras from the sale of IDH following a very competitive
auction.

In February 2008, LGV 4 distributed £0.6 million to Mithras from the sale of Verna Group.

In March 2008, LGV 4 benefited from the sale of Classic Hospitals to a trade buyer and distributed £4.3 million
to Mithras.



72

ANNOUNCEMENT OF FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2007

• 27 March 2008

ANNOUNCEMENT OF INTERIM RESULTS FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2008

• August 2008

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

• 14 May 2008

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS ON ORDINARY SHARES

Declared 2007:

• Final dividend of 2.00p Paid on 8 May 2007 to shareholders on

the register of members on 9 March 2007.

• Special dividend of 1.00p Paid on 26 October 2007 to shareholders on

the register of members on 28 September 2007.

Declared 2008:

• Final dividend of 2.00p Payable on 28 May 2008 to shareholders on the 

register of members on 11 April 2008.

• Special dividend of 2.00p Payable on 31 October 2008 to shareholders on

the register of members on 26 September 2008.

SHAREHOLDER HELPLINE

0871 601 5366

Calls to this number are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. Other telephone providers costs may

vary.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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